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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 1

I. INTRODUCTION 

For most Americans, home ownership—and the mortgage relationship that allows it—

is the single most important transaction in their lifetime. For this reason, it is critically important that 

lenders and loan servicers act with integrity and treat borrowers fairly, even when borrowers are 

behind on mortgage payments.  But Defendant Nationstar Mortgage LLC (“Nationstar”) (n/k/a “Mr. 

Cooper”) and its affiliates Defendants Solutionstar Holdings LLC (n/k/a Xome Holdings LLC1), and 

Solutionstar Field Services LLC (the two Solutionstar entities referred to throughout collectively as 

“Solutionstar”), do not act with integrity and do not treat borrowers fairly.  Instead, Nationstar and 

Solutionstar use an automated default servicing platform to illegally, unfairly, and fraudulently charge 

defaulted or at-risk-of-default borrowers for multiple and repetitive “property inspections” that are not 

required by lenders, not permitted by lender guidelines, and in many cases not allowed under state and 

federal regulations and guidelines.  

Through this lawsuit, Plaintiffs seek to hold Nationstar and Solutionstar to the 

applicable legal standards and stop the practice of automatically ordering and assessing unfair and 

excessive fees for property inspections, as well as charging improper fees to customers who are behind 

on payments, at risk of default or in default who pay online or over the phone.  

This lawsuit is not the only legal action Nationstar faces. Nationstar is currently the 

subject of various regulatory or governmental investigations, subpoenas, examinations and inquiries 

related to its residential loan servicing and origination practices, bankruptcy and collections practices, 

financial reporting and other aspects of its businesses. These matters include investigations by the 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Executive 

1 See Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc., Form 10-Q (Q3, 2015), p.18 available at 
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1520566/000152056615000110/nsmhinc0930201510-q.htm.  
Unless otherwise noted, all references to SEC filings in this Amended Complaint are to those made by 
or on behalf of Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc.  
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 2

Office of the United States Trustees, the Department of Justice, the U.S. Department of Housing and 

Urban Development, the multistate coalition of mortgage banking regulators, various State Attorneys 

General, the New York Department of Financial Services, and the California Department of Business 

Oversight.2

As of the Third Quarter 2014, Nationstar was the fifth largest loan servicer in the 

United States and is the second largest loan servicer that is not also a bank.3  Nationstar is now the 

largest non-bank servicer and fourth largest servicer of residential mortgage loans in the United 

States.4 Nationstar is the principal servicing subsidiary of Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc., a 

publicly traded holding company that is “one of the largest residential loan servicers in the United 

States . . . [which also] operate[s] an integrated residential loan origination platform with a primary 

focus on customer retention and an array of complementary services related to the purchase and 

disposition of residential real estate.”5  Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc., in turn, is about 69% 

owned by FIF HE Holdings, Inc., which is an indirect subsidiary of Fortress Investment Group, a 

private equity firm.6

\\ 

\\ 

\\ 

\\ 

2 Form 10-K (2016), p. 21. 
3 See Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc., Form 10-Q (Q3, 2014), p.51, available at 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1520566/000152056614000080/nsmhinc0930201410-q.htm. 
4 See Form 10-Q (Q2, 2017), p.53 available at 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1520566/000152056617000058/nsmhinc0630201710-q.htm 
5 See Form 10-K (2016), p.3, available at 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1520566/000152056617000025/nsmhinc201610-k.htm; 
Form 10-K (2013), p.8 (reporting FIF HE Holdings, Inc.’s ownership share at 75%). 

6 Form 10-K (2016), p.24. 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 3

To describe the role of a loan servicer, Nationstar has itself used the following 

diagram:7

As the diagram shows, Nationstar is not the owner of a mortgage note (the owner is 

also known as the “investor” when the note is held by a mortgage-backed security), that is entitled to 

the interest and principal payments.  Rather Nationstar is a service provider which, pursuant to the 

lender/investor’s instructions and guidelines, interacts with the borrower during the term of the 

mortgage loan.  Thus to a borrower, Nationstar is the face of the lender. 

In exchange for performing the servicing role, Nationstar collects a fee from the 

lender/investor based upon the size of its servicing portfolio for that lender, and it is entitled to keep 

servicing fees it assesses (like late fees and the inspection fees at issue here).  Nationstar also can 

recoup advances from the lender/investor for payments it makes to cover third party costs associated 

with a loan. 

The bifurcation of the loan into “Servicing Rights” and ownership creates a disparate 

interest between a loan servicer like Nationstar, and the loan investor/owner such as FNMA 

(“FannieMae”).  The investor/owner has great interest in the loan remaining a performing asset—that 

7 See Nationstar Mortgage LLC, Nationstar Capital Corporation Prospectus p.2, available at 
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1507951/000119312512161857/d317546d424b3.htm.  
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 4

is, not being in default—because only a performing loan provides it with a regular stream of principal 

and interest payments due.  Furthermore, foreclosure auctions usually result in a net return that does 

not cover the balance due on the loan, resulting in a loss to the mortgage investor/owner. 

In stark contrast to how an investor/owner earns profits, the loan servicer makes just a 

small fraction of its profits from its cut of performing loan payments of principal and interest, but can 

make tremendous profits from a loan in default where it can assess substantial late fees, inspection 

fees, default fees, and fees related to the foreclosure process.  Fees and expenses the loan servicer 

charges to a defaulted loan, even if not paid by the borrower, are paid by the investor/owner through 

the foreclosure process.  In this manner, it is actually in the interest of the loan servicer to put as many 

loans as possible into default, regardless of whether ultimate foreclosure may reduce the size of its 

servicing portfolio.  

In an attempt to control the perverse incentive of the loan servicer to drive serviced 

loans into default in order to profit from exorbitant default servicing fees, investor/owners build  

limitations on what loan servicers can do—called covenants—into the mortgage notes/deeds of trust 

that form the contract for each loan and publish guidelines that regulate the scope of permitted servicer 

conduct.  In addition, regulators have issued rules to prevent loan servicers from exploiting vulnerable 

borrowers who are in, or on the verge of default on their mortgages. 

II. THE INSPECTION FEE SCHEME 

This action arises, in part, from a scheme (“The Inspection Scheme” or “Scheme”) 

undertaken by Nationstar and Solutionstar to profit from: (1) ordering unfair and excessive property 

inspections which are charged to defaulted or delinquent borrowers’ accounts; (2) collecting fees on 

each inspection so ordered; and (3) collecting additional late fees and default-related fees based upon 

the increase in monthly costs to borrowers as a result of the unnecessary inspection fees first added.  

As part of the Scheme, Nationstar contracts with banks and other lenders to provide payment-

Case 2:16-cv-00302-MCE-EFB   Document 114   Filed 05/06/20   Page 8 of 84
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 5

processing, collection and other client services related to residential mortgage loans, especially those 

in default. 

The Inspection Scheme works as follows.   

i. Nationstar is one of the largest loan servicers in the United States for home 

loans.  It has an automated and computerized loan servicing platform that is programed to 

automatically and systematically take specific steps in response to various triggers that may 

occur in the loan servicing process.  

ii. When a borrower misses a loan payment, or a loan otherwise becomes in 

default, Nationstar’s loan servicing platform automatically, and without regard to 

owner/investor guidelines and/or actual need, orders property inspections that are excessive in 

frequency and price, or otherwise unfair. The loan need not technically be in default under the 

terms of the mortgage loan for the property inspections to be ordered. 

iii. Nationstar orders the property inspections through its affiliate, Solutionstar, in 

order for Solutionstar to reap otherwise unavailable mark-ups and profits on the inspections. 

Solutionstar, in turn, automatically generates orders for inspections that are sent to third parties, 

who complete purported inspections, but in reality merely drive by the property and check for 

signs of residency (“drive-by inspections”), if that.  In some instances, the “inspection” is 

illusory or fabricated, because it is impossible even to do a drive-by inspection on the property 

because of, e.g., gated communities (“fabricated inspections”).    

iv. Nationstar pays its affiliate Solutionstar, and then charges borrowers’ accounts 

for the inspections.  If borrowers (who are already in default or who have missed payments) 

fail to make timely payments for the dubious inspection fees, Nationstar adds additional late 

fees and associated charges.  
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 6

v. All Defendants profit: (1) Nationstar profits through fees at the expense of 

borrowers who try to become current on their loans and either pay the fees or incur increased 

debt obligations for those fees; (2) Solutionstar profits by adding service/referral charges to the 

amounts actually paid to third party “inspectors”; and (3) the inspectors themselves profit from 

completing dubious and unnecessary drive-by or fabricated inspections, for which Solutionstar 

pays them.  

Due to the high volume of loans Nationstar services, tens of thousands of borrowers 

have been victims of this Scheme.   

The Inspection Scheme works because: (1) Nationstar uses its Solutionstar affiliates as 

a go-between for drive-by and fabricated inspections; (2) Nationstar systematically and automatically 

causes the inspections to be ordered, whether they are needed, permitted, or lawful, or not; and 

(3) loan owner/investors rely on Nationstar to follow their guidelines and government regulations, and 

cannot or do not police Defendants’ activities for compliance.  

Plaintiffs and Class members are harmed by the Inspection Scheme: (1) because they 

are charged for multiple, unnecessary, unreasonable, or otherwise unlawful drive-by inspections, 

which are marked up by Solutionstar; and (2) because Nationstar counts on the bogus inspection 

charges going unpaid due to the borrower’s default status, and as a result tacks on additional late fees, 

thus causing a debt spiral, rendering it difficult, if not impossible for the defaulted borrower to become 

current. 

Participation by Solutionstar allows the Inspection Scheme to function more 

effectively, because it allows the normal checks and balances within the loan servicing process to be 

eliminated. The price Nationstar charged borrowers for property inspections increased at the same 

time that Nationstar began sending inspection orders through Solutionstar. At the same time 

Solutionstar contracted to pay the third party vendors less per inspection than they had been receiving 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 7

from Nationstar. On information and belief, Nationstar increased the frequency—up to three or more 

inspections in a 30-day period and sometimes multiple inspections in a single day—only after 

Solutionstar began providing the inspection “services.” Nationstar colluded with Solutionstar to drive 

up the fee income that Solutionstar received by increasing both the pricing and frequency of property 

inspection orders.  

Defendants are linked through contractual relationships, agreements, access to the 

Nationstar “Servicing System,” financial ties, and coordination of activities between Defendants and 

third-party inspectors. Nationstar’s Servicing System is a common communication network by which 

Defendants communicate and share information.  The Servicing System enables Defendants to charge 

Plaintiffs and the Classes improper fees, to collect and record the payments of these fees, and to share 

the resulting profits. 

Defendants control and operate the Inspection Scheme as follows:  (a) Nationstar uses 

an automated program in its loan servicing platform to order multiple and serial property inspections 

merely because a borrower is behind in payments and without regard to whether an inspection is 

actually warranted under the circumstances, called for under the Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac written 

Seller/Servicer Guidelines (the “Guidelines”) which govern servicers of Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac 

loans, or permitted by the mortgage contracts or applicable law; (b) the inspection order is 

automatically sent to Solutionstar for fulfilment; (c) Solutionstar runs the order through its systems 

and delegates the actual “inspection” to a complicit third party to complete; (d) the third party 

vendor/inspector completes, if anything, a cursory “drive-by” inspection of the subject property and 

submits an inspection report (where not even a “drive-by” inspection is possible, the inspection is 

simply fabricated); (e) the inspection report is returned to Solutionstar, which provides it to Nationstar; 

(f) Solutionstar pays the third-party vendor/inspector and submits a marked-up bill to Nationstar; and 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 8

(g) Nationstar charges the Class member the marked-up, unfair, and unnecessary property inspection 

fees. 

As a result of the Inspection Scheme, Defendants have obtained Plaintiffs’ and the 

Class’ money and damaged their property, as well as increased their debt obligations without 

justification and contrary to applicable law.  

III. THE PAY-TO-PAY FEE SCHEME 

This action further arises from a scheme undertaken by Nationstar to profit from 

ordering unfair and excessive fees charged to certain borrowers to make an online or telephone 

payment on their accounts (“The Pay-to-Pay Scheme”).  Defaulting borrowers, and other borrowers, 

including those who may merely inquire about payment options, are literally charged to pay their 

mortgage payments. 

The Pay-to-Pay Scheme works as follows.  When a borrower misses a loan payment, or 

otherwise appears to be in risk of default (though not technically in “default”), for example, by 

inquiring about a mortgage modification, or informing Nationstar of a hardship such as losing a job or 

a spouse, Nationstar’s loan servicing platform restricts payment options for that borrower and begins 

to charge borrowers an additional fee of approximately $9.95 to make payments to their online 

Nationstar account or over the phone. This fee is not charged to borrowers making payments by other 

means and does not provide defaulting borrowers with any additional service or benefit. Moreover, it 

is not a “late fee”—because late fees are separately charged.   

Moreover, as representative customer comments indicate, borrowers are not notified 

when the Pay-to-Pay requirement has been implemented with respect to their accounts and, as a result, 

automatic monthly payments by borrowers are often rejected, causing them to incur further fees and 

risk default. 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 9

As a result of the Pay-to-Pay Scheme, Defendants have obtained Plaintiffs’ and the 

Class’ money and damaged their property, as well as increased their debt obligations without 

justification and contrary to applicable law.  
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 10

IV. NATIONSTAR PROPERTY INSPECTION ENTERPRISE AND  
INSPECTION FEE RICO SCHEME 

This action further arises from an unlawful enterprise orchestrated by Nationstar and 

Solutionstar, including their directors, employees, and agents, and their affiliated property preservation 

vendors and/or inspectors (“Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise”).8

The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise illegally profits from a fraudulent 

scheme to increase revenue for the members of the enterprise and the other entities and individuals 

associated-in-fact with the unlawful enterprise by conducting unfair and excessive property 

inspections whether they are needed or not, and collecting unearned and marked-up fees in the process 

(the “Inspection Fee RICO Scheme”). 

Defendant Nationstar, like most mortgage loan servicers, contracts with banks and 

other lenders to provide payment-processing, collection and other client services related to home 

loans, especially those in default. But, Nationstar does not principally rely on revenue from timely 

principal and interest payments paid by ‘up-to-date’ borrowers on ‘producing’ loans for its outsized 

profits. Instead, it generates most of its profits by collecting fees it charges to borrowers that have 

defaulted on or missed their loan payments.  These fees are, generally, charged to borrowers for 

“default-related services” like the property inspections that are the subject of this suit.  

This business model allows servicers, like Nationstar, to operate on razor-thin margins 

for servicing performing loans, while incentivizing them to put borrowers in default. This puts the 

servicers in conflict with both loan originators (who profit from ‘up-to-date’ borrowers, or ‘producing’ 

loans) and the borrowers themselves (who receive little or no benefit from default-related services, 

which are intended primarily to protect the lender’s collateral).  

8 Additional detail on the composition of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise is set forth below 
in Count XI. 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 11

This conflict is, generally, controlled through certain contract terms included in 

Nationstar’s agreements with loan originators and/or a borrower’s loan documents that limit how 

frequently and under what circumstances fees for default-related services, such as property 

inspections, may be charged. Although these restrictions are intended to protect borrowers, they also 

have the effect of controlling Nationstar’s ability to collect excess profits through the imposition of 

default-related fees.  

In order to circumvent these restrictions, conduct property inspections in a manner not 

permitted by its contractual agreements, and to charge excess and marked-up fees in connection with 

those services, Nationstar (and/or its parent company) created a new, ‘spin-off’ corporate entity—

Solutionstar—through which many default-related services are conducted.  

Solutionstar does not, itself, provide any default-related services.  Instead, it contracts 

with third party property inspection vendors and/or property inspectors to fill Nationstar’s orders for 

property inspections but it, nevertheless, charges an additional marked-up fee for those inspections.  

Indeed, Solutionstar’s primary role in the relationship between Nationstar and its 

affiliated property inspection vendors and/or property inspectors is to charge additional and 

unnecessary marked-up fees, sometimes called “service fees,” for property inspection services, which 

are ultimately charged to borrowers, paid to Solutionstar, and passed on to Nationstar. 

The members of the enterprise orchestrated the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme, whereby 

Nationstar leveraged its relationships with lenders and loan originators to secure contracts to provide 

default-related borrower services, including property inspection fees, under certain agreed-up 

conditions and restrictions. Upon securing those agreements, however, Nationstar began to conduct 

the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme by using an automated loan-servicing platform that automatically 

triggers orders for property inspections whether or not they are needed or permitted under the terms of 

Nationstar’s agreements.   
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 12

Solutionstar facilitates the profitability and functioning of the Inspection Fee RICO 

Scheme by accepting Nationstar’s automated property inspection orders, automatically adding a mark-

up to the price of the inspections and, in turn, automatically issuing their own inspection orders that 

are sent to third party inspection vendors and/or property inspectors.  

Those property inspection vendors and/or property inspectors further implement and 

execute Defendants’ scheme by accepting Solutionstar’s excessive and marked-up property inspection 

orders and automatically report ‘completed’ property inspections, whether or not an inspection 

actually occurred.  

This self-sustaining scheme is fraudulent at every stage, but each member of the 

Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise also concealed the fraudulent activities of their co-

conspirators.  In furtherance of the scheme, the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection 

Enterprise each affirmatively misrepresented or concealed the fraudulent nature of the property 

inspections described here, as well as the existence, amount, and purpose of the fees charged to 

borrowers for those property inspections. Specifically, the members of the Nationstar Property 

Inspection Enterprise claim that they engaged in property inspections only under certain agreed-upon 

circumstances and only to ensure that the property has not been damaged or abandoned when, in fact, 

these inspections are conducted automatically, whether they are necessary for the preservation of the 

property and permitted by contract, or not.  

Moreover, the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise claimed, 

through the issuance of monthly statements and other demands for payment, that the fees charged for 

property inspections ordered by the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise were fair, lawful, and 

reasonable when, in fact, they are the consequence of an unlawful scheme to mark-up property 

inspection fees solely to enrich Defendants outside the scope of their contractual agreements. 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 13

While each member of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise acquired, 

maintained control of, was associated with, and conducted or participated in the conduct of the 

Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise’s affairs, at all relevant times, the Nationstar Property 

Inspection Enterprise: (a) had an existence separate and distinct from each of its members; (b) was 

separate and distinct from the pattern of racketeering in which the members of the Nationstar Property 

Inspection Enterprise engaged; and (c) was an ongoing and continuing organization consisting of legal 

entities, including Nationstar, Solutionstar, and their affiliated property inspection vendors, along with 

other individuals and entities, including unknown third parties. 

While Defendants participated in, and are members of, the enterprise, they have an 

existence separate from the enterprise, including distinct legal statuses, different affairs, different 

offices and roles, officers (with certain exceptions), directors (with certain exceptions), employees, 

individual personhood, and reporting requirements. Nationstar’s participation in the Nationstar 

Property Inspection Enterprise is distinct from its own affairs as a loan servicer. The Solutionstar 

entities’ participation in the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise is also distinct from their own 

affairs which include providing technology and data enhanced solutions to home buyers, home sellers, 

real estate agents, and companies engaged in the origination and/or servicing of mortgage loans.  

The separate legal statuses of Nationstar, Solutionstar, and their affiliated property 

inspection vendors facilitated this scheme to avoid restrictions on default-related services and charge 

marked-up fees for property inspections in the process. Solutionstar, for example, attempts to provide 

Nationstar with a hoped-for shield from liability because it consists of two entities that are able to 

charge fees on its behalf (not limited by contractual restrictions) and it is unfamiliar to borrowers. But, 

each of the above-described separate legal entities acted in concert and towards a common end in and 

through the associated-in-fact enterprise: to limit costs and maximize profits by conducting unfair, 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 14

illegal and excessive property inspections whether they are needed or not, and collect unearned and 

marked-up fees in the process. 

At the same time, the corporate affiliation between Nationstar and the Solutionstar 

entities has and continues to aid the National Property Inspection Enterprise’s common purpose, 

organization and status as a continuing unit. Solutionstar Field Services LLC is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Solutionstar Holdings LLC n/k/a Xome Holdings LLC. Solutionstar Holdings LLC is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of Nationstar. Nationstar’s parent company, Nationstar Mortgage Holdings 

Inc, admits that the affiliation between the Nationstar and Solutionstar (Xome) creates potential 

conflicts of interest and claims of collusion: 

Xome [Solutionstar] provides services to us which could create, appear to create or be 
alleged to create conflicts of interest. By obtaining services from a subsidiary, there is 
risk of possible claims of collusion or claims that such services are not provided by Xome 
upon market terms.  We have adopted policies, procedures and practices, and engage an 
independent third party to conduct a pricing study to ensure that the fees charged are 
customary and reasonable. However, there can be no assurance that such measures will 
be effective in eliminating all conflicts of interest or that third parties will refrain from 
making such allegations.9

The overlapping management of both Nationstar and Solutionstar further aids in the 

Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise’s common purpose, organization and status as a continuing 

unit. Jay Bray, Chairman of the Board of Directors and President and Chief Executive Officer of 

Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc., is also the President and Chief Executive Officer of Nationstar 

Mortgage LLC as well as the Executive Chairman of Xome Holdings LLC (f/k/a Solutionstar 

Holdings LLC).10 And until March 2017, Robert Stiles was Executive Vice President and Chief 

9 Form 10-K (2016), p.18; see Form 10-K (2014), p. 11 (same as to Solutionstar prior to its rebranding 
as Xome). 

10 See Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc. Shareholder Proxy at 11; Housingwire, Nationstar Elevates 
CEO Bray to chairman of the board, https://www.housingwire.com/articles/37446-nationstar-elevates-
ceo-jay-bray-to-chairman-of-the-board (July 5, 2016) (last visited Aug. 27, 2017). 

Case 2:16-cv-00302-MCE-EFB   Document 114   Filed 05/06/20   Page 18 of 84



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 15

Financial Officer of Nationstar Mortgage Holding Inc, Nationstar Mortgage LLC and Xome Holdings 

LLC (f/k/a Solutionstar Holdings LLC).11

The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise’s Inspection Fee RICO Scheme has 

harmed Plaintiffs and the Class because: (1) they are charged for multiple, unnecessary, unreasonable, 

or otherwise unlawful drive-by inspections, which are marked up by Solutionstar; and (2)  Nationstar 

counts on the bogus inspection charges going unpaid due to the borrower’s default status, and as a 

result tacks on additional late fees, thus causing a debt spiral, rendering it difficult, if not impossible 

for the defaulted borrower to become current. 

Due to the high volume of loans Nationstar services, tens of thousands of borrowers 

have been victims of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise’s Inspection Fee RICO Scheme.   

This scheme is an ongoing, continuing group or unit of persons and entities associated 

together for the common purpose of limiting costs and maximizing profits by conducting unfair, 

illegal and excessive property inspections whether they are needed or not, and collecting unearned and 

marked-up fees in the process.  

V. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

With respect to Plaintiffs’ claims under state law, Plaintiffs invoke the jurisdiction of 

this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) because various members of the Classes are citizens of a 

state different from Defendants’ states and the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds five million 

dollars. 

Subject-matter jurisdiction also arises under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 based upon the federal 

RICO claims asserted under 18 U.S.C. § 1961, et seq. 

Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Plaintiffs 

Eugenio Contreras and Rosa Diaz Contreras reside in this district, the properties underlying their 

11 2016 Proxy at 16; see Form 8-K (Mar. 22, 2017), Item 5.02.  
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 16

mortgage loans are in this judicial district, and because Defendants regularly conduct business in 

interstate trade and commerce in this District. 

Defendants’ activities described herein were in the flow of interstate commerce and had 

a substantial effect on interstate commerce. 

VI. PARTIES 

Eugenio and Rosa Dias Contreras (the “Contreras”) are married residents of the State of 

California. On or about April 11, 2008, Contreras executed a Note and Deed of Trust secured by real 

property located in San Joaquin County California, Tracy, California, their primary residence. 

Nationstar is the current servicer of their mortgage loan.  

Plaintiffs William Phillips12 is a resident of the State of Arizona. On or about February 

18, 2009, Phillips executed a Note and Deed of Trust secured by real property located in Gila County 

Arizona, Globe, Arizona, his primary residence. Nationstar is the current servicer of his mortgage 

loan.    

Plaintiff Teresa Barney (“Barney”) is a resident and citizen of Oregon. On or about 

November 2, 2005, Barney executed a Note and Mortgage encumbering a certain piece of real 

property located in Corbett, Oregon, 97019, her primary residence. Nationstar is the current servicer of 

her mortgage loan. 

Keith and Teresa Marcel (the “Marcels”) are residents and citizens of Louisiana. On or 

about August 12, 2003, the Marcels executed a Note and Deed of Trust encumbering a certain piece of 

real property located in Mandeville, LA, their primary residence. Nationstar was the servicer of their 

mortgage loan.  

12 Melva Phillips, William Phillips’ wife, was named in the original action but has since passed away 
and is no longer a named plaintiff in this action. 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 17

Plaintiff Sherlie Charlot (“Charlot”) is a resident and citizen of Florida.  On or about 

March 22, 2010, Charlot executed a Note and Mortgage encumbering a certain piece of real property 

located in Lake Worth, Florida, her primary residence.  Nationstar is the current servicer of her 

mortgage loan.  

Plaintiff Jennie Miller (“Miller”) is a resident and citizen of the State of Illinois. On or 

about June 19, 2009, Miller executed a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust encumbering a certain 

piece of real property located in Wauconda, IL. Nationstar is the current servicer of her loan.  

Nationstar:  

Defendant Nationstar Mortgage LLC (“Nationstar”) is a Delaware limited liability company. 

Nationstar’s principal place of business is in Lewisville, Texas. Defendant Nationstar is a subsidiary of 

Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc., which is a publicly traded holding company. Nationstar Mortgage 

Holdings Inc., in turn, is approximately 69% owned by FIF HE Holdings, Inc., which is an indirect 

subsidiary of Fortress Investment Group, a private equity firm. 

Solutionstar:  

A. Defendant Solutionstar Holdings LLC is a Delaware limited liability company. Its 

principal place of business is Lewisville, Texas. Solutionstar Holdings LLC is an indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary of Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc., and an affiliate of Defendant Nationstar.13

Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc.’s financial filings state: “Solutionstar provides technology and data 

enhanced solutions to home buyers, home sellers, real estate agents, and companies engaged in the 

origination and/or servicing of mortgage loans.”14 Solutionstar was subsequently rebranded as “Xome”          

13 See Form 10-Q (3Q 2015) at p. 18.  
14 Form 10-Q, supra, n. 1, at 52; see Form 10-Q (3Q 2015) at p. 62 (“The launch of the Xome platform 

was a significant step in the transformation of the Xome segment from a provider of refinance and 
default related residential mortgage services to a provider of technology and data enhanced solutions to 
home buyers, home sellers, real estate professionals and companies engaged in the origination and/or 
servicing of mortgage loans.”).
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 18

wholly owned subsidiary of Nationstar Mortgage, LLC. Solutionstar Holdings LLC, n/k/a Xome 

Holdings LLC provides property preservation services to Nationstar. It does so by, inter alia, 

accepting Nationstar’s automated bulk property inspection orders, automatically issuing its own 

inspection orders to third party inspection vendors and/or property inspectors who conduct the 

inspections, receiving invoices from the third party inspection vendors and paying them, and issuing 

marked up inspection invoices to Nationstar. Solutionstar Holdings LLC is the sole member of 

Solutionstar Field Services LLC, and in that capacity received distributions of profits and earnings 

from Solutionstar Field Services LLC at times and in amounts that Solutionstar Holdings LLC 

determined. Throughout the Third Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs refer to Solutionstar Holdings LLC 

n/k/a Xome Holdings LLC, as “Solutionstar Holdings LLC.” 

B. Defendant Solutionstar Field Services LLC is also a Delaware limited liability 

company. Its principal place of business is Lewisville, Texas. Solutionstar Field Services LLC was a 

wholly owned subsidiary of Solutionstar Holdings LLC and is now a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Xome Holdings LLC. Defendant Nationstar entered into contractual agreements with Solutionstar 

Field Services LLC to provide field services products to Nationstar. Solutionstar Field Services LLC 

then entered into contracts with national property preservation vendors to provide field services 

products to Nationstar, including inspections of Nationstar’s portfolio of properties. Solutionstar Field 

Services LLC provides field services to Nationstar by, inter alia, negotiating contracts with national 

property preservation vendors to provide field services products to Nationstar including the fees paid 

to vendors for various field services, accepting Nationstar’s automated bulk property inspection 

orders, automatically issuing its own inspection orders to third party inspection vendors and/or 

property inspectors who conduct the inspections, receiving invoices from the third party inspection 

vendors and paying them, and issuing marked up inspection invoices to Nationstar. Plaintiffs refer to 

Solutionstar Holdings LLC and Solutionstar Field Services LLC collectively as “Solutionstar”.  
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 19

On its website, Solutionstar touted its “national network of professionals who deliver a 

competitive suite of valuation products designed to exceed the threshold levels of compliance required 

by state and federal regulations.”15 These products include: “Drive-bys,” “Evaluations,” and “Re-

inspection/ Recertifications.”16  Solutionstar has been providing services to Nationstar, including 

services provided through the Inspection Scheme, since at least April 2012. 

Whenever, in this Complaint, reference is made to any act, deed, or conduct of 

Defendants committed in connection with the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise, the allegation 

means that Defendants engaged in the act, deed, or conduct by or through one or more of their 

officers, directors, agents, employees or representatives, each of whom was actively engaged in the 

management, direction, control or transaction of the ordinary business and affairs of Defendants and 

the enterprise. Similarly, Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon, allege that, at all 

material times herein, each of the Defendants was the agent, servant, or employee of the other 

Defendants, and acted within the purpose, scope, and course of said agency, service, or employment, 

and with the express or implied knowledge, permission, and consent of the other Defendants, and 

ratified and approved the acts of the other Defendants. Defendants are the ultimate recipient of the ill-

gotten gains described herein. The fraudulent scheme at issue in this case was organized by executives 

working at the highest levels of Defendants’ respective companies, and carried out by both executives 

and subordinate employees working for Defendants. 

15 See Valuation Services, Solutionstar, http:///www.solutionstar.com/pages/valuationservices (last 
visited Mar. 14, 2016), https://web.archive.org/web/20160314053432/http://www.solutionstar.com: 
80/pages/valuationservices; see also Nationstar Mortgage Holdings From 10-K (2016), at p.7 (touting 
939,000 collateral reports and 442,000 property reports over the three years prior to 2016, and noting 
that Xome’s core services include appraisals and “collateral valuation services for . . . default 
transactions”). 

16 Id. 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 20

VII. FACTS 

A. Predatory Practices by Nationstar and Solutionstar Have Made the American Dream of 
Home Ownership a Dangerous Pitfall to Financial Ruin 

Homeownership remains the best path to building financial assets and attaining wealth 

for most Americans.  With assets, families can more easily pay for a child’s education, start a small 

business, prepare for retirement, or help to build wealth and a brighter future for their children and 

grandchildren. 

Yet this vision is frustrated when borrowers who enter into real estate transactions run 

by sophisticated professionals are exploited by the very companies that are counted on to provide fair 

and reasonable customer service in connection with loan servicing.  Borrowers are perilously 

vulnerable to short term economic distress that may result from job loss or medical problems.  When 

these borrowers are unable to make their payments on time, perhaps just for a short time between jobs, 

unreasonable and unfair practices such as those of Nationstar and Solutionstar described in this 

complaint, create a debt spiral that prolongs borrower default, and thereby increases revenue to the 

loan servicer and its affiliates. In consequence, borrowers run high risks of foreclosure and/or 

bankruptcy, and often lose any accumulated savings that were used to fund the purchase price or 

transaction costs for their home. 

B. Mortgages Contain Largely Uniform Obligations and Requirements for Loan Servicers 

Virtually all mortgage loans originated in the United States use either the standardized 

Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac Security Instrument (the “Fannie/Freddie Mortgage”) or the Federal Housing 

Authority (“FHA”) Deed of Trust (the “FHA Mortgage”). This is because at origination, the 

originating bank/lender must use these forms in order to have the possibility of selling the mortgage to 

Fannie/Freddie, which are the largest holders of mortgages in the United States.  If the standardized 

forms are not used, Fannie/Freddie will not purchase the loan from the originator.  Plaintiffs Contreras, 

Phillips, Barney, and Marcels all have Deeds of Trust utilizing the standard Fannie/Freddie Mortgage.  
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 21

While the Fannie/Freddie forms are not identical for each state, they contain sections 

which are uniform and do not change from state to state.  Importantly, the sections of Fannie/Freddie 

mortgages at issue in this case are the sections that are uniform on a nationwide basis. C.f., Exhibit 1, 

Exhibit 2 (Exhibit 1 is the form for California and Exhibit 2 is the form for Arizona, yet they contain 

identical language relevant to this case). 

Likewise, the FHA Mortgage forms have sections that can vary based on the state in 

which the property is located, but the sections at issue in this case are the same in every state. 

Plaintiffs Charlot and Miller have a Deed of Trust utilizing the standard FHA Mortgage.  

When the mortgage loan is sold in the secondary market, for example to 

Fannie/Freddie, or to private investors through a Mortgage Backed Security (“MBS”), the Servicing 

Rights are separated from the principal and interest income stream rights, and the Servicing Rights are 

either retained by the originating lender or acquired by a loan servicer such as Defendant Nationstar.  

The Fannie Mortgage clarifies the distinction between the “Lender” and the “Loan 

Servicer.” The “Lender” is the originating Lender who provides the funds to the Borrower in return for 

repayment plus interest, i.e., the owner of the note. C.f., Exhibit 1, ¶ (C); Exhibit 2, ¶ (C). 

The Fannie Mortgage specifically contemplates that the owner of the note, the 

“Lender,” may change, and recognizes the distinction between the “Loan Servicer” and the note 

owner: 

The Note or a partial interest in the Note (together with this Security Instrument) can be 
sold one or more times without prior notice to Borrower. A sale might result in a change 
in the entity (known as the “Loan Servicer”) that collects Periodic Payments due under 
the Note and this Security Instrument and performs other mortgage loan servicing 
obligations under the Note, this Security Instrument, and Applicable Law. There also 
might be one or more changes of the Loan Servicer unrelated to a sale of the Note.17

17 See Exhibit 1, Contreras Note. ¶ 20; Exhibit 2, Phillips Note, ¶ 20. 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 22

Thus, under the Fannie Mortgage, when the Lender’s interest in the Note is 

transferred—i.e., when the right to receive principal and interest payments due under the note is sold 

to another entity—the “Lender” becomes the seller of the Note and Security Instrument. 

Importantly, the Fannie Mortgage draws an additional sharp distinction between the 

“Lender” and the “Loan Servicer.” Specifically, the “Lender” funds the loan and is entitled to 

repayment of principal and interest. The “Loan Servicer” “collects Periodic Payments due under the 

Note and … Security Instrument and performs other mortgage loan servicing obligations …” See 

Exhibit 1, ¶ 20; Exhibit 2, ¶ 20. 

The Loan Servicer’s duties and obligations are clearly filled in and defined by the 

Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac written Seller/Servicer Guidelines (the “Guidelines”) when the loan is 

sold to those entities. 

C. Effect of a Borrower’s Default on the Loan Servicer 

As explained more fully below, loan servicers have an economic incentive to push 

borrowers into default, an interest that is misaligned with borrowers and lenders.  

In the event of a default by the Borrower, the GSE/Mortgage-owner (i.e., the Lender) 

suffers the principal loss. See Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc. Form 10-K (2013), p.10 (“Loan 

servicers service on behalf of the owners of the loans, and servicers are therefore exposed to minimal 

credit risk.”) (Unless otherwise specified all other SEC filings cited to in this Amended Complaint 

were filed by and on behalf of Nationstar Mortgage Holdings Inc.). 

If the Loan Servicer advanced payments on taxes, insurance premiums or other 

default/foreclosure related costs (including, without limitation, property inspections), the Loan 

Servicer does not suffer a loss of those advances in the event of foreclosure. Rather, the Lender 

reimburses the Loan Servicer for the outstanding amount. See, e.g., Form 10-K (2013), p.3 

(“[Servicing] advances can include … fees to preserve and protect the property and legal fees to 
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THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 23

foreclose on the property. Servicing advances are reimbursed to the servicer if and when the borrower 

makes a payment on the underlying mortgage loan at the time the loan is modified or upon liquidation 

of the underlying mortgage loan.”).  

The Loan Servicer’s risk of loss in the event of a Borrower’s default and foreclosure is 

limited to a loss of the right to receive future servicing fees on the loan. In the event of default and 

foreclosure, Loan Servicers also stand to collect additional fee income including late fees, attorney 

fees, foreclosure fees, etc., that exceed the value of the servicing fees paid to Loan Servicers by 

Lenders. If the Loan Servicer manages to work with the borrower to modify or refinance the 

delinquent loan, the Loan Servicer typically receives a fee in connection with that outcome as well. 

See Form 10-K (2013), p.10 (“We also generate incentive fees from owners of the loans that we 

service for meeting certain delinquency and loss goals and for arranging successful loss mitigation 

programs. Moreover, we earn incentive fees from the U.S. Treasury for loans that we successfully 

modify within the parameters of HAMP and other assistance programs it sponsors.”).  

The potential loss of base servicing fees can pale in comparison to the ancillary fee 

compensation received by the Loan Servicer in connection with default servicing activities. Indeed, 

where the compensation received in connection with default servicing activities is greater than the 

present value of servicing fees—as is often the case—the Loan Servicer has a greater interest in 

forcing borrowers into (and ensuring they stay in) default than it has in granting a modification or 

restoring the account to a fully performing loan. 

Moreover, the average duration of mortgage loans in the United States is seven years. 

In fact, in valuing its mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”), Nationstar estimates that the loans in its 

servicing portfolio will only endure, on average, for 4.63 or 7.88 years. See Form 10-K (2013), p. 46. 

Thus, on average, the Loan Servicer anticipates receiving far fewer than thirty (30) years of loan 

servicing fees making the expected value of the Servicing Rights at closing (or at any other time 
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during the life of a loan) to a Loan Servicer, significantly less than the present value of 30 years of 

servicing fees. 

Nationstar earns revenue from mortgage loan servicing in three principal ways. First, 

Nationstar receives a fixed fee for each loan which is determined by the servicing agreements between 

Nationstar and the investors or note holders. See Form 10-K (2013), p.97 (“Nationstar receives a base 

servicing fee ranging from 0.25% to 0.50% annually on the remaining outstanding principal balances 

of the loans. The servicing fees are collected from investors.”); Form 10-K (2016), p.81 (“Nationstar 

receives a base servicing fee ranging from 0.21% to 0.50% annually on the outstanding principal 

balances of the loans, which is collected from investors.”).  

Second, Nationstar earns “float” income from accrued interest between when 

consumers pay and when those funds are remitted to Lenders, investors, taxing authorities, insurers 

and other relevant parties. See Form 10-K (2013), p.10 (“[Nationstar] earn[s] interest income on 

amounts deposited in collection accounts and amounts held in escrow to pay property taxes and 

insurance, which we refer to as float income.”).  

Third, Nationstar receives ancillary fee income that includes, without limitation, late 

charges paid by borrowers, workout and modification incentive fees, and other delinquency-related fee 

income including, for example, the property inspection or “home preservation” fees at issue here. 

Two important sources of ancillary fee income for Defendants are property inspection 

fees and late fees. As described more fully herein, each time Nationstar inspects the property and 

assesses a property inspection fee on a borrower, the borrower must pay an additional $15 (the amount 

Nationstar presently charges) to become current. If the borrower fails to become current, Nationstar 

imposes late fees on the borrower.  

This practice makes it more difficult for distressed borrowers to become current and 

leads many borrowers into foreclosure proceedings and/or to modify their loan. As explained above, 
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this serves Nationstar’s interests. Because Loan Servicers like Nationstar generate revenue from loan 

servicing activities and fees, and do not profit directly from principal and interest payments made by 

borrowers, Loan Servicers have a vested interest in generating revenue through so-called default 

servicing activities and corresponding ancillary fees.  

Some of these fees, such as late fees, are pure profit for the Loan Servicer. Other fees 

permit the Loan Servicer to generate additional income by delegating the task to an affiliated entity or 

entity that returns a profit to the Loan Servicer. 

Furthermore, because Nationstar is able to generate more loan servicing income 

through default servicing activities as compared to ensuring that borrowers make timely payments on 

the mortgage to the benefit of the owner/investor of the loan, Nationstar is incentivized to keep 

borrowers in default, which is contrary to the interests of both borrowers and the Lenders. Indeed, 

according to one member of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, “a foreclosure 

almost always costs the investor [of the loan] money, but [it] may actually earn money for the servicer 

in the form of fees.”18

Therefore, it is important to note that Loan Servicers, including Nationstar, and Lenders 

have a conflict of interest. Even though the loan servicing and default servicing tasks performed by 

Nationstar are purportedly to protect the Lender, such tasks and associated charges must be critically 

evaluated.  

One template for determining the reasonableness of the tasks and charges undertaken 

by the Loan Servicer are the guidelines, rules and/or regulations issued by the Lender that set forth the 

Loan Servicer’s obligations with respect to the specific tasks at issue. None of these documents 

suggest that it is appropriate to inspect a property more than once during a 30-day period, if at all, or 

18 Governor Sarah Bloom Raskin, “Problems in the Mortgage Servicing Industry,” Board. of Governors 
of the Federal Reserve System (Nov. 12, 2010), available: 
http://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/speech/raskin20101112a.htm.   

Case 2:16-cv-00302-MCE-EFB   Document 114   Filed 05/06/20   Page 29 of 84



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 26

after the borrower has come current. Rather, it is Nationstar’s unilateral and self-serving determination 

en masse that conducting these excessive property inspections is “appropriate” regardless of the 

borrowers’ underlying circumstances or any objective criterion related to the circumstances 

surrounding particular loans. 

Defendants’ Scheme takes advantage of the current structure of the mortgage industry 

and Nationstar’s role, in nearly all cases, as merely the Loan Servicer, and not the “Lender.” While the 

mortgage documents and Lender guidelines permit and in some circumstances require the Loan 

Servicer to conduct certain property inspections, Nationstar’s Scheme ignores these guidelines and 

imposes, without limitation: (a) unfair and excessive property inspections that are not permitted by 

mortgage documents; (b) more property inspections than are required or requested by the Lenders; (c) 

more property inspections than are permitted by federal regulations and state laws; (d) more property 

inspections than are warranted by the circumstances of any actual loan—i.e., without any regard for 

whether the borrowers occupy the property or any other factor that would make inspections warranted; 

and (e) charges for property inspections that are inflated by amounts that Solutionstar retains for its 

role in the scheme. Nationstar engages in this scheme with minimal risk because Lenders are required 

to reimburse Nationstar for the property inspection charges in the event that the borrower does not pay 

them.  

D. Property Inspections on Defaulted Loans 

Loan Servicers perform “servicing” tasks on behalf of the Lender that holds the loan. 

These tasks include collecting monthly payments, monitoring insurance coverages, and ensuring that 

taxes are paid. Loan Servicers are also responsible for taking action to protect the properties securing 

loans when certain triggering circumstances arise, e.g., obtaining lender-placed insurance when the 

Loan Servicer determines that the property is uninsured and/or securing a property that has been 

abandoned to avoid damage. 
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1. Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac Guidelines Control Appropriate Loan Servicing 
Activities. 

The tasks Loan Servicers perform and the standards Loan Servicers are supposed to 

adhere to in performing these tasks are determined by owner/investor guidelines. For example, Fannie 

Mae and Freddie Mac each issue written servicing guides that delineate the tasks that Loan Servicers 

must perform and standards applied in evaluating Loan Servicer performance. Failure to comply with 

these guidelines is probative of a failure on the part of the servicer to comply with state consumer 

protection laws. Loan Servicers are also bound by the terms of the mortgage contracts and applicable 

laws and regulations.  

The provisions of the Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Guidelines referencing property 

inspections do not require or suggest that Loan Servicers order property inspections more frequently 

than once every 30 days, nor do they authorize inspections after the borrower has remedied their 

default/come current on their loan. 

For example, in Section 303 of the 2012 Fannie Mae Servicing Guidelines, Fannie 

states: 

Generally, the servicer does not have to inspect a property that secures a delinquent 
mortgage loan if it has established [Quality Right Party Contact (“QRPC”)] with the 
borrower and is working with the borrower to resolve the delinquency … or a full 
payment has been received within the last 30 days. 

The servicer must order the property inspection by the 45th day of delinquency and 
complete the property inspection no later than the 60th day of delinquency if QRPC has 
not been achieved or a full payment has not been received within the last 30 days. The 
servicer must continue to obtain property inspections every 30 days until it establishes 
QRPC as long as the mortgage loan remains 45 days or more delinquent.19

This provision is necessary to ensure the property is occupied when the Loan Servicer 

has been unable to establish contact with the borrower and loan payments have not been received. 

19 Fannie Mae, Fannie Mae Single Family 2012 Servicing Guide (Mar. 14, 2012), 
https://www.fanniemae.com/content/guide/svc031412.pdf.  

Case 2:16-cv-00302-MCE-EFB   Document 114   Filed 05/06/20   Page 31 of 84



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 28

Plainly, the provision does not authorize or permit inspections when the Loan Servicer is in contact 

with the borrower and knows the property to be inhabited, or after the borrower has come current. 

As detailed above, Plaintiffs had either been in contact with Nationstar, achieved QRPC 

under the Fannie Mae Servicing Guidelines, and/or become current on their loans and were no longer 

in default. Yet, Defendants continued ordering property inspections well after they knew that a QRPC 

with each Plaintiff was made.  

If the Loan Servicer first identifies a circumstance at the property that warrants 

additional inspections, the Guidelines make exceptions to the 30-day inspection rule. But there must 

be an identified need for the additional inspection. For example, Section 303.01 of the Fannie Mae 

Guidelines, which addresses property inspections for borrowers who are delinquent on a previously 

negotiated repayment plan, states: 

A servicer must inspect a property as soon as it becomes aware of a borrower’s 
delinquency under a repayment plan, and continue inspecting the property at 30 day 
intervals. If an inspection reveals evidence of vandalism or major damage to the property 
(or vandalism in the vicinity of the property), the servicer should schedule the property 
inspections at more frequent intervals. The inspections should continue to be made until 
such time as the mortgage is brought current or, if the servicer decides to initiate 
foreclosure proceedings or accept a deed-in-lieu, until the date that the servicer makes the 
required comprehensive property inspection prior to the foreclosure sale or the date the 
deed-in-lieu is executed.20

If the Loan Servicer becomes aware of the possibility that the borrower abandoned the 

property or the property is vacant or tenant-occupied, Section 302 of the Fannie Mae Guidelines 

discusses and permits additional property inspections. 

But these provisions do not authorize or require inspections more frequently than once 

every 30 days even where the Loan Servicer is unable to establish a QRPC, and they certainly do not 

allow the Loan Servicer to continue to order and charge for inspections after the borrower has cured 

any default. 

20 Id. 
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Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have not taken action to prevent Defendants’ violations 

of the guidelines because they rely on Loan Servicers to police themselves. As explained by the 

Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”), the conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac: 

[Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac] use a delegated business model to buy and service 
mortgage loans. In this model, they contract with third-party mortgage loan sellers and/or 
servicers (e.g., counterparties, such as banks) that are relied on to comply with their 
requirements for ... servicing the ... loans [purchased or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or 
Freddie Mac] (e.g., collecting payments); and [] reporting data about the loans. As a 
result of relying on the counterparties for compliance and reporting, [Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac] run the risk of their counterparties failing to meet their respective ... 
servicing guidelines.21

The Office of Inspector General for the FHFA then wrote: 

In the mid-1990s, one of the Enterprises required an independent, third-party assurance of 
counterparties’ compliance with some elements of its guidelines, but this requirement 
was replaced by reliance on counterparties’ self-representations of their compliance. 
Further, the Enterprises have risk-based, internal oversight of their counterparties’ 
compliance with selling and servicing guidelines but most receive no onsite review.22

The OIG of the FHFA has also previously found that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac “do 

not ensure counterparties’ business practices follow all federal and state laws and regulations designed 

to protect consumers from unlawful activities....”23 “In addition, OIG identified that [Fannie Mae and 

Freddie Mac] do not have a formal monitoring program in place to review their counterparties’ 

compliance with the federal and state laws that govern ... servicing mortgage loans. Instead, [Fannie 

Mae and Freddie Mac] rely primarily on counterparty self-certifications of contractual compliance 

along with federal regulators’ supervisory and enforcement activities.”24

21 Letter from Russell A. Rau, Deputy Inspector General for Audits of the FHFA, to Nina Nichols, 
Deputy Director for Enterprise Regulation, Audit of FHFA’s Oversight of Risks Associated with the 
Enterprises Relying on Counterparties to Comply with Selling and Servicing Guidelines (Sept. 26, 
2014) (“Counterparty Risk Letter”), at 1, available at http://fhfaoig.gov/Content/Files/AUD-2014-
018.pdf (last visited Aug. 28, 2017). 

22 Counterparty Risk Letter (emphasis added), at 1. 
23 Counterparty Risk Letter, at 11. 
24 Id. See also FHFA OIG, FHFA Should Develop and Implement a Risk-Based Plan to Monitor 

Oversight of Their Counterparties Compliance with Contractual Requirements Including Consumer 
Protection Laws (Mar. 26, 2013), available at http://www.fhfaoig.gov/Content/Files/AUD-2013-
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2. Mortgage Contracts Establish the Legal Limits of a Loan Servicer’s Powers. 

Mortgage loan contracts establish the parameters of the relationship between and 

among a borrower, the Lender, and Loan Servicer.  The mortgage contracts have provisions that 

govern when a Loan Servicer can order property inspections and charge a borrower for the cost of 

such inspections. 

In Paragraph 7 of the standard Fannie/Freddie Mortgage, the Lender or its agent “may 

make reasonable entries upon and inspections of the Property.” See, e.g., Exhibit 1, Exhibit 2, each at ¶ 

7. The Fannie/Freddie Mortgage further provides that if the “Borrower fails to perform the covenants 

and agreements contained in [the mortgage agreement] ... or Borrower has abandoned the Property, 

then Lender may do and pay for whatever is reasonable or appropriate to protect Lender’s interest in 

the Property and rights under [the mortgage agreement] including protecting and/or assessing the 

value of the Property....” See, e.g., id. ¶ 9 (emphasis added). The form mortgage provides that any 

amount disbursed by the Lender for taking action under paragraph 9 becomes additional debt of the 

Borrower. 

Loan Servicers of loans owned or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac must 

follow the standards and procedures of the Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Servicing Guidelines. Thus, 

these Guidelines clarify what is “reasonable or appropriate” under Paragraphs 7 and 9 of the Fannie 

Mortgage.  

The standard FHA Mortgage states at Paragraph 5: 

Lender may inspect the Property if the Property is vacant or abandoned or the loan is in 
default. Lender may take reasonable action to protect and preserve such vacant or 
abandoned Property.  

008_0.pdf; Letter from Steve A. Linick, Inspector General of FHFA to Edward J. DeMarco, Director, 
Systemic Implication Report: Enterprise Oversight of Property Preservation Inspections (Nov. 26, 
2012), available at http://fhfaoig.gov/Content/Files/SIR%20FINAL%20Enterprise%20Oversight%  
20of%20Property%20Preservation_0.pdf (uncovering fraud by property inspection vendor and 
questioning whether Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac had sufficient protections in place to detect fraud). 
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Paragraph 7 of the standard FHA Mortgage provides:  

Lender may do and pay whatever is necessary to protect the value of the Property and 
Lender’s rights in the Property, including payment of taxes, hazard insurance and other 
items mentioned in paragraph 2.25

Any amounts disbursed by Lender under this paragraph shall become an additional debt 
of Borrower and be secured by this Security Instrument. These amounts shall bear 
interest from the date of disbursement, at the Note rate, and at the option of Lender, shall 
be immediately due and payable. 

However, federal regulations, discussed below, make clear that borrowers cannot be 

charged for property inspections unless the Lender – or Loan Servicer – has reason to believe the 

property is vacant. 

3. Laws and Regulations Govern Loan Servicing. 

Certain federal regulations and state laws govern whether Loan Servicers—including 

Nationstar—may order a property inspection and charge the inspection to a borrower. 

For example, the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 

imposes a limitation on Loan Servicers’ ability to order property inspections and charge them to 

borrowers. Specifically, 24 C.F.R. § 203.377, which provides, in pertinent part: 

The mortgagee, upon learning that a property subject to a mortgage insured under this 
part is vacant or abandoned, shall be responsible for the inspection of such property at 
least monthly, if the loan thereon is in default. When a mortgage is in default and a 
payment thereon is not received within 45 days of the due date, and efforts to reach the 
mortgagor by telephone within that period have been unsuccessful, the mortgagee shall 
be responsible for a visual inspection of the security property to determine whether the 
property is vacant. The mortgagee shall take reasonable action to protect and preserve 
such security property when it is determined or should have been determined to be vacant 
or abandoned until its conveyance to the Secretary, if such action does not constitute an 
illegal trespass. “Reasonable action” includes the commencement of foreclosure within 
the time required by § 203.355(b) of this part. 

A bankruptcy court in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania ruled that Section 203.377 

of the federal regulations trumps any provision to the contrary in FHA Mortgages. See In re Ruiz, 501 

25 Paragraph 2 of the FHA Mortgage concerns “Monthly Payment of Taxes, Insurance and Other 
Charges.” It does not discuss or reference property inspections. 
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B.R. 76 (Bkrtcy. E.D. Pa. 2013). In Ruiz, the court ruled that notwithstanding the Loan Servicer’s 

argument that the mortgage permitted inspections solely on the basis of default, the federal regulation 

controlled.  

4. Nationstar’s Property Inspections Process Ignores the Applicable Guidelines, 
Mortgage Contracts, and Regulations. 

Nationstar monitors its mortgage servicing portfolio using an automated computer 

system known as Loan Servicing and Accounting Management System (“LSAMS”). LSAMS is a 

customizable loan servicing software platform sold by ISGN.26

Nationstar began using LSAMS as its servicing system of record in May 2011 to 

document and monitor all servicing functions performed by Nationstar. Nationstar has integrated 

LSAMS with other systems, databases and modules such as LenStar,27 Remedy, RemedySTAR,28

FORTRACS,29 and others.30 Nationstar’s Servicing System is programmed to account for and apply 

Lenders’ minimum guidelines and required tasks, but Nationstar has further customized its Servicing 

System to take other actions for its own purposes and profit. The ordering of multiple property 

inspections within a single 30-day period is one example of exceeding the Lender guidelines for 

Defendants’ benefit. 

Nationstar’s Servicing System will automatically order a property inspection and 

charge the borrower’s account for the inspection if a borrower is late making a payment. The only 

criteria for the inspection to be ordered and charged is that the loan has been in default for a certain 

26 See http://www.isgn.com/technology/servicing/ (last visited Aug. 28, 2017). 
27 LenStar is a default management communications software that provides bi-directional integration 

with attorney case management systems for mortgage banking organizations and attorneys involved in 
the servicing of loans in foreclosure, bankruptcy, and eviction. 

28 Remedy and RemedySTAR are Nationstar’s loan modification systems of record. 
29 FORTRACS is a software system that navigates the mortgage servicer user through default processes 

such as loss mitigation, foreclosure processing, and bankruptcy processing. 
30 These secondary systems and databases perform and track automated functions of Nationstar’s 

servicing system. 
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number of days. The inspection is ordered and charged regardless of whether there is a lawful and 

reasonable basis for ordering the inspection or whether the borrower may be legally charged for the 

inspection. 

The Servicing System is fully automated. It generates work orders for property 

inspections without human intervention.  On information and belief, Nationstar does not assign any 

employee the task of determining whether each property inspection is reasonable, necessary and/or 

appropriate to protect the Lender’s interest in the property. 

Once the automated trigger for an inspection occurs, the property inspection work order 

is automatically sent, via Solutionstar, to either a third-party vendor or affiliate of Nationstar. 

Once the vendor/affiliate receives the computer-generated property inspection work 

order, the inspection is performed and the cost is automatically charged to the borrower’s account. The 

property inspection report is uploaded to the Servicing System. 

After the first inspection is ordered, the Servicing System continuously orders 

additional inspections without regard to the existence of any condition warranting additional 

inspections and even after the borrower becomes current. Even if a borrower misses only one monthly 

payment, but continues to make additional monthly payments, the borrower is treated as being in 

default (regardless of whether there is a default pursuant to the terms of the applicable mortgage loan 

agreement(s)) and property inspections are repeatedly ordered. 

The Inspection Scheme ignores whether borrowers, including Plaintiffs, are obviously 

living in their homes at the time of the inspections. Specifically, Nationstar programmed its automated 

loan servicing system to ignore the occupancy of the home or any other relevant consideration before 

ordering property inspections. Furthermore, as was the case with a number of Plaintiffs, the system 

continued to order and charge for inspections, even after the borrower had cured their delinquency and 

become current on their loan.  
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The Guidelines, the mortgage contracts, and the applicable regulations support at least 

three separate and independent reasons why Nationstar’s conduct is not appropriate: (a) it is not 

reasonable to order multiple property inspections in a single 30-day period, or order inspections after a 

borrower has become current; (b) it is not reasonable for Nationstar to impose charges on borrowers 

for visual property inspections or fabricated property inspections; and (c) it is not reasonable for 

Nationstar to engage in self-dealing with Solutionstar and profit from inspections at borrowers’ 

expense. 

Furthermore, it is improper for Nationstar to program its automated and computerized 

loan servicing system to automatically order property inspections and assess the “costs” of those 

inspections to borrowers without accounting for: (a) whether the inspections may be legally charged to 

borrowers; (b) whether Nationstar has reason to believe the property is abandoned; and (c) whether the 

frequency of the property inspections exceed the standards of reasonableness and appropriateness. 

E. Nationstar Charged Plaintiffs Unfair Property Inspection Fees 

1. Eugenio and Rosa Diaz Contreras 

Plaintiffs Eugenio Contreras and Rosa Diaz Contreras (the “Contreras”) are married 

residents of the State of California.  On April 11, 2008, the Contreras executed a Promissory Note in 

favor of Suntrust Mortgage, Inc. The Note was secured by a standard Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac 

Uniform Security Instrument deed of trust on the Contreras’ primary residence located in Tracy, 

California. See Ex. 1 (“Contreras Deed of Trust”).  

The Contreras’ mortgage is currently serviced by Nationstar and owned and/or 

guaranteed by Fannie Mae.  On or about November 1, 2012, the Contreras became delinquent in their 

mortgage payments.  The Contreras have, however, continuously lived in their home despite the fact 

that they fell behind in payments.   
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The Contreras have been in consistent and regular contact with Nationstar either on 

their own or through counsel.  Through that contact, the Contreras have informed Nationstar, and 

Nationstar is well-aware, that they continue to live in the property.   

On or about August 1, 2014, the Contreras resolved the delinquency on their loan and 

have been current on their mortgage payments. Nonetheless, the Contreras continue to be charged 

inspection fees by Nationstar which is indicated on their mortgage statements. 

On March 17, 2016, Defendants waived the service of summons and acknowledged 

receipt of the original complaint in this action, which includes the Contreras’ claims. Over forty-seven 

months have since passed, and Defendants have made no effort whatsoever to cure the breaches 

outlined in the original complaint.   

In light of the Court’s order on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 19, on August 

15, 2017, by e-mail and certified U.S. Mail, the Contreras (through counsel) sent a notice and cure 

letter to counsel for Defendants, pursuant to Section 20 of the Contreras Deed of Trust. A copy of this 

letter is attached as Exhibit 32. 

As of the date of this filing, neither the Contreras nor their counsel have received any 

response to the August 15 notice and cure letter or been provided any evidence of any cure.  

2. William Phillips 

Plaintiff William Phillips is a resident of the State of Arizona.  On February 18, 2009, 

Phillips and his now-deceased wife executed a Promissory Note in favor of Nationstar Mortgage, 

LLC, which is also his servicer. The Note was secured by a standard Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac 

Uniform Security Instrument encumbering the Phillips’ primary residence located in Globe, Arizona. 

See Ex. 2 (“Phillips Deed of Trust”).   

Phillips’ mortgage is currently serviced by Nationstar and owned and/or guaranteed by 

Fannie Mae.  On or about July 1, 2013, Phillips fell behind in his mortgage payments.  Phillips has, 
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however, continuously lived in the home despite the late status of the payments. Phillips has been in 

consistent contact with Nationstar either on their own or through counsel.  Through that contact, 

Phillips has informed Nationstar, and Nationstar well knows, that he continues to live in the property. 

Phillips has been attempting and continues to attempt to resolve the loan delinquency including by 

submitting an application to modify the mortgage terms. Nonetheless, Phillips continues to be charged 

inspection fees by Nationstar which are indicated on his mortgage statements. 

On March 17, 2016, Defendants waived the service of summons and acknowledged 

receipt of the original complaint in this action, which includes Phillips’ claims. Over forty-seven 

months have since passed, and Defendants have made no effort whatsoever to cure the breaches 

outlined in the original complaint.   

In light of the Court’s order on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 19, on August 

15, 2017, by e-mail and certified U.S. Mail, Phillips (through counsel) sent a notice and cure letter to 

counsel for Defendants, pursuant to Section 20 of the Phillips Deed of Trust. A copy of this letter is 

attached as Exhibit 33.  

As of the date of this filing, neither Phillips nor his counsel have received any response 

to the August 15 notice and cure letter or been provided any evidence of any cure.  

3. Teresa Barney 

Plaintiff Teresa Barney (“Barney”) is a resident and citizen of Oregon. On or about 

November 2, 2005, Barney executed a Promissory Note in favor of GN Mortgage, LLC.  

The Note is secured by a standard Fannie Mae / Freddie Mac Uniform Security 

Instrument encumbering a certain piece of real property located in Corbett, Oregon, (the “Gordon 

Creek Property”). See Ex. 3 (“Barney Deed of Trust”). Barney’s mortgage was initially serviced by 

Aurora Loan Services, LLC.  It is currently serviced by Nationstar. 
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On or before June 25, 2010, Barney lost her job, and qualified for a modification of her 

mortgage terms pursuant to the federal government’s Home Affordable Modification Program 

(“HAMP”). See Ex. 4 (“HAMP Approval”). She also qualified for the Oregon Homeownership 

Stabilization Initiative, which permitted her to forego mortgage payments for a year, and qualified her 

for a number of other protections. See Ex. 5 (“OSHI Authorization Form”).  

On or about June 15, 2012, Nationstar bought the servicing rights to Barney’s mortgage 

and Nationstar is the current servicer of her loan. See Ex. 6 (“Barney Letter Confirming Sale of 

Servicing Rights”).  

Barney has continuously resided at the Gordon Creek Property at all times relevant to 

the present suit and has been in consistent and regular contact with Nationstar, so as to put them on 

notice that the property was inhabited. Nevertheless, Nationstar charged Barney over $120 in fees for 

Property Inspections intended to ensure that the property had not been abandoned or vandalized.  

Moreover, a number of the Property Inspections occurred within 30 days of one 

another. See Ex. 7 (“Barney Payment History Transaction Report”); Ex. 8 (“Barney Property 

Inspection Invoices”).  

Further, Barney has never missed a mortgage payment and foreclosure has not been 

initiated against her property. Nevertheless, Nationstar charged Barney a number of “Distressed 

Mortgage Fees,” including Corporate Advances, for services intended to facilitate foreclosure that 

Barney never received and/or were never explained to her. See Ex. 37 (indicating Corporate Advances 

on 9/25/12, 11/6/12, 1/24/13, 4/24/14, 5/22/14, 6/16/14, 7/24/14, 2/4/15).  

When Barney transmits her monthly mortgage payments to Nationstar, the payment is 

first applied to her fees, which causes her to fall behind on her mortgage payments and incur 

additional late payment fees. Nevertheless, Barney continues to pay all fees incurred in order to 

remain current on her account. 
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4. Keith and Teresa Marcel 

Keith and Teresa Marcel (“the Marcels”) are residents and citizens of Louisiana.  

On or about August 12, 2003, the Marcels executed a Note and Mortgage encumbering 

a certain piece of real property located in Mandeville, LA (“Longwood Property”). See Ex. 9 (“Marcel 

Note”); Ex. 10 (“Marcel Mortgage”). 

The Marcels’ loan was serviced by Nationstar.  

The Marcels have continuously resided at the Longwood Property at all times relevant 

to the present suit and has been in consistent and regular contact with Nationstar, so as to put them on 

notice that the property is inhabited, including sending written requests to Nationstar. See Ex. 11 

(“Marcel Correspondence”). 

Nevertheless, as of December 22, 2014, Nationstar charged the Marcels $57.00 for 

property inspections, services designed to ensure that the property has not been abandoned. See Ex. 12 

(“Marcel 12/22/14 Statement”).  

Moreover, the Marcels were issued property inspection fees for inspections that appear 

to have never occurred. The Marcels live in a gated community which restricts the access of non-

residents, including Nationstar or Solutionstar representatives. As such, Defendants could not have 

gained access to the Marcels’ home to conduct an inspection of any kind, even for a “drive-by” 

inspection.   

Further, Nationstar charged the Marcels a number of other unexplained “Distressed 

Mortgage Fees” including a number of Corporate Advances for services the Marcels never received 

and/or were never explained to them. See Ex. 13 (“Marcel Transaction History”) (indicating Corporate 

Advances on 12/31/14, 12/16/14, 6/19/14, 5/22/14, 2/3/14, 1/3/14). 

5. Sherlie Charlot 

Plaintiff Sherlie Charlot (“Charlot”) is a resident and citizen of Florida. 
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On or about March 22, 2010, Charlot executed a Promissory Note and a standardized 

FHA Mortgage in favor of America Home Key, Inc. encumbering a certain piece of real property 

located in Lake Worth, Florida (the “Lake Worth Property”). See Ex. 14 (“Charlot Mortgage”).  

Charlot’s Mortgage was initially serviced by Bank of America.  

On or about June 10, 2013, Charlot’s Mortgage was transferred to Nationstar Mortgage, 

LLC, and Nationstar is the present servicer of Charlot’s Mortgage. See Ex. 15 (“Assignment of 

Mortgage”).  

After Charlot’s Mortgage was transferred, Nationstar claimed that she was in default 

and applied a $4,000 fee to her account, which Charlot paid to bring her account current.  

Charlot has continuously resided at the Lake Worth Property at all times relevant to the 

present suit and has been in consistent and regular contact with Nationstar, so as to put them on notice 

that the property is inhabited.   

Nevertheless, Nationstar charged Charlot $30.00 for Property Inspections, a service 

designed to ensure the property has not been abandoned or vandalized. See Ex. 16 (“Charlot 2/15 

Statement”) (also indicated $2,632.34 in “Legal Fees”). 

Moreover, no foreclosure action has been initiated against Charlot’s property. But, as of 

May 22, 2015, Nationstar charged Charlot $2,423.34 in property inspection fees, foreclosure fees, title 

examination fees, posting costs, publication fees, and recording fees, services designed for facilitate 

the foreclosure process. See Ex. 17 (“Charlot 5/22/15 Lender Paid Expense Balance Breakdown”).  

Further, Nationstar charged Charlot a number of other unexplained “Distressed 

Mortgage Fees” including a number of Corporate Advances for services Charlot never received and 

were never explained to her. See Ex. 18 (“Charlot Transaction History”) (indicating Corporate 

Advances on 11/27/13, 11/30/13, 1/28/14, 4/24/14, 5/1/14, 5/22/14, 5/28/14, 5/30/14, 6/16/14, 7/7/14, 

7/17/14, 7/25/14, 8/18/14, 10/22/14, 11/28/14, 12/22/14, 1/20/15, 2/17/15, 3/12/15, 4/17/15). 
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Charlot paid each of the fees charged by Nationstar, and transmitted payment to 

Nationstar in the amount of $9,980.42, the amount necessary to cure the default and bring her account 

current. But Nationstar misapplied or failed to apply the payment and, as a result, she remains in 

default.   

F. Nationstar Charged Plaintiffs Unfair ‘Pay-to-Pay’ Fees 

1. Jennie Miller  

Plaintiff Jennie Miller (“Miller”) is a resident and citizen of the State of Illinois. 

Miller executed a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust encumbering a certain piece of 

real property located in Wauconda, IL (the “Cattail Property”). See Ex. 26 (“Miller Note”); Ex. 27 

(“Miller Mortgage”).   

On or about June 4, 2013, Nationstar bought the servicing rights to Miller’s mortgage 

and Nationstar is the current servicer of her loan. See Ex. 28 (“Miller Servicing Transfer Notice”).  

As early as August 9, 2013, Nationstar began to charge Miller a $9.95 fee for making 

or scheduling online payments, totaling more than $129.00, all of which she paid. See Ex. 29 (“Miller 

Transaction History”). 

Miller was not made aware of the fact that she was being charged an additional fee for 

online payment.   

Indeed, following the application of the ‘pay-to-pay’ scheme to her account, Miller no 

longer received paper statements from Nationstar that might have indicated her total amount owed, or 

any fees that she had been charged.  

Moreover, as a result of the ‘pay-to-pay’ scheme, payments that Miller made towards 

her principal loan balance were misapplied, as detailed below.  

In addition to her minimum monthly payment, Miller generally makes an additional 

monthly payment towards her principal loan balance. As indicated in the below screen capture, 
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Nationstar’s online payment form permits additional payments to be made directly to the principal. 

Despite Miller’s use of the online form to indicate that her payment be made to her principal balance, 

Nationstar applied a portion of her additional payment to satisfy ‘pay-to-pay’ fees. Miller never 

received verbal or written notification that fees would be taken out of her additional monthly principal 

payments. As indicated in the below screen capture, the Nationstar monthly payment screen does not 

indicate any outstanding fees or indicate that additional monthly principal payments would be applied 

towards outstanding fees.  

2. Sherlie Charlot   

Plaintiff Charlot is a resident and citizen of Florida. 

On or about June 10, 2013, Charlot’s Mortgage was transferred to Nationstar Mortgage, 

LLC, and Nationstar is the present servicer of Charlot’s Mortgage. See Ex. 15 (“Assignment of 

Mortgage”).  
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After Charlot’s Mortgage was transferred, Nationstar claimed that she was in default 

and applied a $4,000.00 fee to her account, which Charlot paid to bring her account current.  

Charlot has made payments through Nationstar’s website and over the phone.  

Nationstar’s detailed transaction records for Charlot appear to show Pay-to-Pay fees, 

itemized as “ZZZZF-E PAY.” These have been assessed on at least the following dates: (1) August 16, 

2013 for $9.95; (2) September 16, 2013 for $9.95; (3) November 30, 2013 for $9.95; (4) July 16, 2014 

for $9.95; (5) August 18, 2014 for $9.95; (6) September 18, 2014 for $9.95; (7) November 21, 2014 

for $9.95; (8) December 22, 2014 for $9.95; (9) January 6, 2015 for $9.95; (10) February 17, 2015 for 

$9.95; (11) March 12, 2015 for $9.95; (12) April 17, 2015 for $9.95; (13) May 14, 2015 for $9.95; and 

(14) June 12, 2015 for $9.95. See Ex. 18; see also Ex. 36. 

Even if the fees were disclosed more than a year before Charlot filed the original 

Complaint, Nationstar never made Charlot aware that these fees were unevenly assessed to the 

borrowers whose loans Nationstar services and were unreasonable, unnecessary, and improper. This is 

the factual basis of the Pay-to-Pay claim. Charlot was not aware of this fact until after she obtained her 

detailed mortgage transaction records (Ex. 18) and consulted with counsel in mid-2015.  

3. Eugenio and Rosa Diaz Contreras  

The Contreras are married residents of the State of California. 

On January 15, 2015, Nationstar began to charge the Contreras a “convenience fee” for 

making payments through Nationstar’s website or over the phone. The Contreras were charged these 

Pay-to-Pay fees on at least the following dates: (1) January 14, 2011 for $6.95; (2) February 15, 2011 

for $9.95; (3) February 18, 2011 for $6.95 and $9.95; (4) March 16, 2011 for $9.95; (5) April 18, 2011 

for $9.95; (6) May 17, 2011 for $9.95; (7) June 17, 2011 for $9.95; (8) July 18, 2011 for $9.95; (9) 

August 16, 2012 for $9.95; (10) September 17, 2012 for $9.95; (11) October 16, 2012 for $9.95; (12) 

April 29, 2013 for $15.00; (13) May 31, 2013 for $15.00; (14) June 28, 2013 for $15.00; (15) 
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September 17, 2013 for $9.95; (16) January 15, 2015 for $9.95; (17) February 17, 2015 for $9.95; (18) 

August 14, 2015 for $9.95; (19) October 15, 2015 for $9.95; (20) November 16, 2015 for $9.95; (21) 

December 15, 2015 for $9.95; (22) January 15, 2016 for $9.95; (23) February 16, 2016 for $9.95; (24) 

February 22, 2016 for $9.95; (25) March 15, 2016 for $9.95; (26) April 18, 2016 for $9.95; (27) May 

16, 2016 for $9.95; (28) June 16, 2016 for $9.95; (29) July 15, 2016 for $9.95; and (30) August 16, 

2016 for $9.95.  

Even if the fees were disclosed more than a year before the filing of the original 

Complaint, Nationstar never made the Contreras aware these fees were unevenly assessed for the loans 

serviced by Nationstar where the borrower was deemed delinquent and were unreasonable and 

improper.  

Nationstar’s monthly statements showed only an undefined fee of $9.95, which was not 

identified as a “convenience fee” charged in association with mortgage payments, and was charged to 

individuals who missed payments, were in/at risk of default, or made payments online or over the 

phone, the Contreras were not aware of these facts until mid-2015.  

VIII. TOLLING OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS 

Plaintiffs’ claims are subject to equitable tolling, stemming from Plaintiffs’ inability to 

obtain vital information underlying their claims.  Any applicable statutes of limitation are properly 

tolled because Plaintiffs did not know and could not have learned the true facts underlying their claims 

until shortly before filing their Complaint, including as a result of the investigation of counsel 

Plaintiffs and members of the Classes were or have been unable to obtain vital 

information bearing on their claims absent any fault or lack of diligence on their part.  As further set 

forth below, Plaintiffs were not on inquiry notice of Defendants’ wrongdoing and had no duty to 

initiate an investigation of any nature because the charges for property inspection and payment 
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appeared to be legitimate.  Plaintiffs did not and could not have known of Defendants’ violations of 

applicable consumer law, breaches of their contracts or unjust enrichment.   

Plaintiffs were relieved of any duty to investigate because they reasonably and 

justifiably relied on Defendants to comply with applicable consumer law and contractual obligations.  

Even assuming there had been some indication of wrongdoing (which there was not), and Plaintiffs 

had attempted to investigate, such investigation would have been futile because it would not have 

uncovered the true, unlawful nature of Defendants’ activities. 

Plaintiffs and members of the Classes did not discover and could not have discovered, 

despite all due diligence, that the property inspection and payment fees charged to their accounts were 

unfair and excessive.  Plaintiffs and members of the Classes did not discover and could not have 

discovered, despite all due diligence, the Schemes alleged herein.  Plaintiffs’ claims were thus 

equitably tolled until they discovered the true facts underlying their claims shortly before the filing of 

the Complaint. 

Moreover, Defendants knowingly and intentionally engaged in conduct solely 

calculated to induce Plaintiffs to refrain from or postpone the commencement of an action.  

Further Plaintiffs claims are subject to the continual accrual and/or continuous violation 

doctrines. Defendants engaged in continuous and repetitive violations of applicable consumer law and 

breaches of contract and, as such, the limitations period for Plaintiffs’ claims accrue only upon the last 

of the Defendants’ unfair and/or illegal acts.   

IX. CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

A. The Classes  

Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege every allegation above as if set forth herein in full. 

This class action is brought by the individually named Plaintiffs on behalf of 

themselves and the following “National Distressed Mortgage Fees Class”: 
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All persons in the United States or any United States Territory who were charged one or 
more property inspection fees through Nationstar’s automated loan servicing platform, 
when they inhabited the property to be inspected and were in contact with Nationstar so 
as to put them on notice of the fact that the property was inhabited.  

The National Distressed Mortgage Fees Class has two subclasses: 

A. The “Fannie/Freddie National Distressed Mortgage Fees Subclass,” which is 

defined as: 

All persons in the United States or any United States Territory whose mortgage contracts 
use the standard Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac Uniform Security Instrument and were charged 
one or more property inspection fees through Nationstar’s automated loan servicing 
platform, when they inhabited the property to be inspected and were in contact with 
Nationstar so as to put them on notice of the fact that the property was inhabited.  

B. The “FHA Distressed Mortgage Fees Subclass,” which is defined as: 

All persons in the United States or any United States Territory whose mortgage contracts 
use the standard Federal Housing Administration Security Instrument and were charged 
one or more property inspection fees through Nationstar’s automated loan servicing 
platform, when they inhabited the property to be inspected and were in contact with 
Nationstar so as to put them on notice of the fact that the property was inhabited.  

This class action is also brought by Plaintiffs Miller, Charlot, and Contreras on behalf 

of themselves and the “National Pay-to-Pay Class”: 

All persons in the United States or any United States Territory whose were charged one 
or more fees in order to make an online or telephonic payment to their Nationstar 
account.    

This class action is also brought under California law by the Plaintiffs Contreras on 

behalf of themselves and the “California Distressed Mortgage Fees Class”: 

All members of National Distressed Mortgage Fees Classes whose properties securing 
their loan serviced by Nationstar are located in California. 

This class action is also brought under Arizona law by Plaintiff Phillips on behalf of 

himself and the “Arizona Distressed Mortgage Fees Class”: 

All members of the National Distressed Mortgage Fees Classes whose properties 
securing their loan serviced by Nationstar are located in Arizona. 
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This class action is also brought under Oregon law by Plaintiff Barney on behalf of 

herself and the “Oregon Distressed Mortgage Fees Class”: 

All members of the National Distressed Mortgage Fees Classes whose properties 
securing their loan serviced by Nationstar are located in Oregon. 

This class action is also brought under Louisiana law by Plaintiffs Keith and Teresa 

Marcel on behalf of themselves and the “Louisiana Distressed Mortgage Fees Class”: 

All members of the National Distressed Mortgage Fees Classes whose properties 
securing their loan serviced by Nationstar are located in Louisiana. 

This class action is also brought under Florida law by Plaintiff Charlot on behalf of 

herself and the “Florida Distressed Mortgage Fees Class”: 

All members of the National Distressed Mortgage Fees Classes whose properties 
securing their loan serviced by Nationstar are located in Florida. 

This class action is also brought under Illinois law by Plaintiff Miller on behalf of 

herself and the “Illinois Pay-to-Pay Class”: 

All members of National Pay-to-Pay Class whose properties securing their loan serviced 
by Nationstar are located in Illinois. 

This class action is also brought under California law by Plaintiffs Contreras on behalf 

of themselves and the “California Pay-to-Pay Class”: 

All members of National Pay-to-Pay Class whose properties securing their loan serviced 
by Nationstar are located in California. 

This class action is also brought under California law by Plaintiff Charlot on behalf of 

herself and the “Florida Pay-to-Pay Class”: 

All members of National Pay-to-Pay Class whose properties securing their loan serviced 
by Nationstar are located in Florida. 

Plaintiffs sue on their own behalf and on behalf of the Classes under Rules 23(a), 

(b)(2), and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  

The following chart illustrates the Classes and Subclasses: 
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Property Inspection Classes 

Class Subclasses Class Representatives 

1 National Distressed Mortgage 

Fees Class 

Contreras, Phillips, 

Barney, Marcels, 

Charlot  

A.    Fannie/Freddie National 

Distressed Mortgage Fees 

Subclass 

Contreras, Phillips, 

Barney, Marcels 

B.    FHA Distressed Mortgage 

Fees Subclass 

Charlot 

2 California Distressed 

Mortgage Fees Class 

N/A Contreras 

3 Arizona Distressed Mortgage 

Fees Class 

N/A Phillips 

4 Oregon Distressed Mortgage 

Fees Class 

N/A Barney 

5 Louisiana Distressed 

Mortgage Fees Class 

N/A Marcels 

6 Florida Distressed Mortgage 

Fees Class 

N/A Charlot 

Pay-to-Pay Classes 

Class Subclasses Class Representatives 

1 National Pay-to-Pay Class N/A Miller, Contreras, & 

Charlot 

2 California Pay-to-Pay Class N/A Contreras 

3 Illinois Pay-to-Pay Class N/A Miller 

4 Florida Pay-to-Pay Class N/A Charlot 

1. Numerosity. 

Plaintiffs do not know the exact size or identities of the proposed Class, since such 

information is in the exclusive control of the Defendants.  Nationstar is the second largest non-bank 

loan servicer in the United States.  Its servicing portfolio contains millions of loans. As of year-end 

2013, Nationstar stated that it had 2.3 million loan servicing customers, 15% of whom “are facing 

difficult situations in life that make paying their mortgage challenging,”31 and 11.8% of those 1.98 

31 2013 Annual Report p. 2. 
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million loans (234,000) are 60+ days delinquent.32 As of year-end 2016, Nationstar stated that it had 

2.9 million loan servicing customers,33 5% of whom are 60+ days delinquent (145,000).34 Thus, 

Nationstar admits at least 230,000 defaulting customers as of 2013 and 145,000 customers as of 2016.  

On this basis, Plaintiffs believe that the Classes encompass tens if not hundreds of thousands of 

individuals.  California, Arizona, Oregon, Florida, Illinois and Louisiana are highly populated states 

where Nationstar has significant operations and a large loan servicing portfolio. Therefore, the 

proposed Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.  

2. Commonality. 

All members of the Classes have been subject to and affected by Defendants’ practices 

detailed herein.  There are questions of law and fact that are common to the Class, and predominate 

over any questions affecting only individual members of the Class.  These questions include, but are 

not limited to, the following: 

a. Whether Defendants created and implemented the Inspection Scheme and the 

Pay-to-Pay Scheme;  

b. Whether Defendants violated state law; 

c. Whether the statute of limitations for Plaintiffs’ claims should be properly tolled; 

d. Whether Nationstar had a policy and practice of charging persons in arrears 

unlawful and unreasonable inspection and/or pay-to-pay fees; 

e. Whether Nationstar had a policy and practice of charging persons inspection fees 

after borrowers had cured their arrearages; 

f. Whether and to what extent Nationstar’s automated servicing platform improperly 

ordered and charged inspection fees to Class members;  

32 Id. at 45. 
33 2016 Form 10-K p. 3. 
34 Id. at 33. 
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g. Whether and the extent to which Nationstar’s pay-to-pay fees improperly charged 

fees to Class members; 

h. Whether Defendants Nationstar and the Solutionstar entities, each independent 

entity (including their directors, employees, agents and affiliated entities), when acting in concert 

to effectuate the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme are an enterprise, as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 

1961(4). 

i. Whether Defendants’ Inspection Fee RICO scheme, as alleged herein, is illegal.  

j. Whether Nationstar and/or Solutionstar (including their directors, employees, 

agents and affiliated entities) engaged in a pattern or practice of racketeering, as alleged herein. 

k. Whether Nationstar and/or Solutionstar (including their directors, employees, 

agents and affiliated entities) was a member of, or participant in, the conspiracy alleged herein. 

l. Whether the Court can enter declaratory and injunctive relief; and 

m. The proper measure of disgorgement and/or actual and/or punitive damages 

and/or restitution, as well as other recovery to the class, including fees and costs. 

3. Typicality. 

The claims of the individually named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Classes 

and do not conflict with the interests of any other members of the Class, in that Plaintiffs and the other 

members of the Classes were subjected to the same uniform abusive practices of the Defendants.  

4. Adequacy. 

The individually named Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the interests of 

the Classes.  They are committed to the vigorous prosecution of the Classes’ claims and have retained 

attorneys who are qualified to pursue this litigation and have experience in class actions—in 

particular, consumer protection and predatory lending actions. 
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5. The prerequisites to maintaining a class action for injunctive relief pursuant to 
Rule 23(b)(2) are readily apparent. 

The prerequisites to maintaining a class action for injunctive relief exist: 

a. If injunctive relief is not granted, great harm and irreparable injury to Plaintiffs 

and the members of the Classes will continue; and 

b. Plaintiffs and the members of the Classes have no adequate remedy at law for the 

injuries which are threatened to recur, in that, absent action from this Court, Defendants will 

continue to violate state law, and cause damage to Plaintiffs. 

Defendants’ actions are generally applicable to the Classes as a whole, and Plaintiffs 

seek, inter alia, equitable remedies with respect to the Classes as a whole. 

6. Common questions predominate, and the class action device is superior, making 
certification appropriate under Rule 23(b)(3). 

The common questions of law and fact enumerated above predominate over questions 

affecting only individual members of the Classes, and a class action is the superior method for fair and 

efficient adjudication of the controversy.  The likelihood that individual members of the Classes will 

prosecute separate actions is remote due to the time and expense necessary to conduct such litigation.  

Plaintiffs’ counsel, highly experienced in class actions, foresee little difficulty in the management of 

this case as a class action. 

X. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I  
BREACH OF CONTRACT 

(ON BEHALF OF ALL PLAINTIFFS, THE NATIONAL DISTRESSED MORTGAGE FEES 
CLASS (INCLUDING BOTH SUBCLASSES) AND THE NATIONAL PAY-TO-PAY CLASS 

AGAINST NATIONSTAR) 

Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

Plaintiffs’ mortgage loans are owned and/or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. 
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Plaintiffs bring this claim on their own and on behalf of the members of the National 

Distressed Mortgage Fees Class, including both the Fannie/Freddie National Distressed Mortgage Fees 

Subclass and the FHA Distressed Mortgage Fees Subclass, and the National Pay-to-Pay Class against 

Nationstar. 

The Fannie/Freddie National Distressed Mortgage Fees Subclass Plaintiffs’ 

(“Fannie/Freddie Plaintiffs”) mortgage contracts use the standard Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac Uniform 

Security Instrument with language substantially similar to the language identified herein. 

Pursuant to the Fannie/Freddie Plaintiffs’ mortgage contracts, where the Loan Servicer 

or Lender acts to protect the property, the Loan Servicer and/or Lender are obligated to do so only in a 

manner that is “reasonable and appropriate.” 

The FHA Distressed Mortgage Fees Subclass Plaintiffs’ (“FHA Plaintiffs”) mortgage 

contracts use the standard FHA Deed of Trust with language substantially similar to the language 

identified herein.   

Pursuant to the FHA Plaintiffs’ mortgage contracts, where the Loan Servicer or Lender 

acts to protect the property, the Loan Servicer and/or Lender are obligated to do so only in a manner 

that is “necessary to protect the value of the Property and Lender’s rights in the property.”    

Plaintiffs’ mortgage loans are serviced by Defendant Nationstar. 

As the Loan Servicer, Nationstar acquired and/or retains certain contractual rights and 

obligations including compliance with the terms of Paragraphs 7 and 9 of the mortgage contracts. 

Nationstar, as described herein, ordered numerous drive-by or fabricated property 

inspections at a rate in excess of once every 30 days. Nationstar charged Plaintiffs for each of these 

inspections. 

The frequency of these inspections was excessive and neither reasonable nor 

appropriate. Nationstar knew at the time the inspections were ordered that Plaintiffs inhabited their 
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homes which secured the mortgages. Thus, Nationstar ordered property inspections that were too 

frequent and were otherwise unfair or excessive. 

Nationstar charged Plaintiffs for these excessive and unfair property inspections. 

Nationstar breached Plaintiffs’ mortgage contracts by charging Plaintiffs for property 

inspections that Plaintiffs were not required to pay for by the terms of their mortgage contracts.  These 

charges were not “reasonable and appropriate” with regard to the Fannie/Freddie Plaintiffs, and were 

not necessary with regard to the FHA Plaintiffs.     

Nationstar breached Plaintiffs’ mortgage contracts by charging Plaintiffs inflated 

property inspection fees due to the portion of the charge that was retained by Nationstar and/or its 

Solutionstar affiliates. 

Moreover, Nationstar breached Plaintiffs’ mortgage contracts by charging Plaintiffs 

fees to make online and telephone payments (“Pay-to-Pay” fees) that Plaintiffs were not required to 

pay for by the terms of their mortgage contracts. 

As the direct, proximate and legal result of these breaches of the express terms of the 

contract, Plaintiffs and members of the Classes have suffered damages and are entitled to the relief 

sought herein for such breaches. 

COUNT II 
BREACH OF CONTRACT - IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH 

AND FAIR DEALING  
(ON BEHALF OF ALL PLAINTIFFS, THE NATIONAL DISTRESSED MORTGAGE FEES 
CLASS (INCLUDING BOTH SUBCLASSES) AND THE NATIONAL PAY-TO-PAY CLASS 

AGAINST NATIONSTAR) 

Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

Plaintiffs bring this claim on their own and on behalf of the members of the National 

Distressed Mortgage Fees Class, including both the Fannie/Freddie National Distressed Mortgage Fees 

Subclass and the FHA Distressed Mortgage Fees Subclass, and the National Pay-to-Pay Class against 

Nationstar. 

Case 2:16-cv-00302-MCE-EFB   Document 114   Filed 05/06/20   Page 56 of 84



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 53

Every contract contains an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

In all of their actions described herein, Nationstar acted on its own behalf. 

The mortgage contracts of Plaintiffs and the Classes contained an implied covenant of 

good faith and fair dealing, pursuant to which Nationstar was bound to exercise the discretion afforded 

it under the mortgage contract in good faith and to deal fairly with Plaintiffs and the Classes.  

Nationstar’s duty of good faith and fair dealing prevents it from evading the spirit of 

the mortgage contract by exercising discretion afforded it to order unnecessary property inspections 

and charge borrowers excessive fees for property inspections. 

Any discretionary authority granted to Nationstar under the terms of the mortgage 

contracts was subject to Nationstar’s implied duty of good faith and fair dealing. To the extent that the 

Classes’ mortgage contracts permitted Nationstar to order property inspections and charge the cost of 

those inspections to the borrowers, Nationstar was obligated to exercise that discretion in good faith 

and not for its own financial gain at borrowers’ expense. 

Nationstar breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing in at least the following 

respects, among others: 

a. ordering property inspections more frequently than requested or required by the 

Lender in order to perpetuate Class member’s loan delinquency; 

b. ordering property inspections through its Solutionstar affiliates, that retained a 

portion of the property inspection charge as profit; 

c. imposing charges for property inspections on the Classes that are not permitted 

by applicable law or regulation and/or in violation of the applicable mortgage provisions;  

d. imposing charges for property inspections on the Classes that are not permitted 

or requested by the Lender; and  
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e. imposing charges to make an online or phone payment that are not permitted by 

applicable law or regulation and/or are in violation of the applicable mortgage provisions.  

By ordering unnecessary property inspections that were not required to protect the 

Lender and by doing so in a manner to maximize its profits and/or the profits of its Solutionstar 

affiliates, Nationstar has breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

Moreover, by ordering online and telephone “Pay-to-Pay” fees that were not required to 

protect the Lender, did not provide any benefit to the consumer, and issued only at the discretion of 

Nationstar towards debtors that were most likely to fall into default as a result, Nationstar breached its 

duty to exercise its discretion in good faith and not for its own financial gain at borrowers’ expense. 

As the direct, proximate and legal result of these breaches of the implied covenant of 

good faith and fair dealing, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have suffered damages and are entitled 

to the relief sought herein for such breaches. 

COUNT III 
UNJUST ENRICHMENT  

(ON BEHALF OF ALL PLAINTIFFS AND THE NATIONAL DISTRESSED MORTGAGE 
FEES CLASS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS AND ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL PAY-

TO-PAY CLASS AGAINST NATIONSTAR) 

Plaintiffs hereby incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint and restate 

them as if they were fully written herein. 

Plaintiffs bring this claim on their own behalf and on behalf of all members of the 

National Distressed Mortgage Fees Class against all Defendants and on behalf of the National Pay-to-

Pay Class against Defendant Nationstar. 

As a result of the Inspection Scheme, Nationstar, Solutionstar and Defendants 

improperly charged unnecessary property inspection fees to Plaintiffs and Class members at an 

inflated price, and earned money and fees that were unreasonable. 
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As a result of the Pay-to-Pay Scheme, Nationstar improperly charged unnecessary 

payment fees to Plaintiffs and Class members, and earned money and fees that were unreasonable. 

Nationstar, Solutionstar and Defendants are aware of the receipt of the above-described 

benefits. 

Nationstar, Solutionstar and Defendants received the above-described benefits to the 

detriment of Plaintiffs and each Class member. 

Nationstar, Solutionstar and Defendants continue to retain the above-described benefits 

to the detriment of Plaintiffs and the Class. 

As a result of Nationstar, Solutionstar and Defendants’ unjust enrichment, Plaintiffs 

and the Class have sustained damages in an amount to be determined at trial and seek full 

disgorgement and restitution of Nationstar, Solutionstar and Defendants’ enrichment, benefits, and ill-

gotten gains acquired as a result of the unlawful or wrongful conduct alleged above. 

Moreover, Nationstar and Defendants improperly charged unnecessary “Pay-to-Pay” 

fees to Plaintiffs and Class members, and earned money and fees that were unreasonable. 

Further, Plaintiffs and the Class, individually and on behalf of the public, seek 

restitution and disgorgement of profits realized by Nationstar, Solutionstar and Defendants as a result 

of their unfair, unlawful and/or deceptive practices. 

COUNT IV 
VIOLATIONS OF OREGON’S UNLAWFUL TRADE PRACTICES ACT  

(OR. REV. STAT. §§ 646.605, ET SEQ.)  
(ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF TERESA BARNEY AND THE OREGON DISTRESSED 

MORTGAGE FEES CLASS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 

Plaintiffs hereby incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint and restate 

them as if they were fully written herein. 

Plaintiff Teresa Barney brings this cause of action on her own behalf and on behalf of 

the members of the Oregon Distressed Mortgage Fees Class against all Defendants.  
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Oregon’s Unlawful Trade Practices Act (Or. Rev. Stat. §§ 646.605, et seq.) enumerates 

a number of unlawful practices, including general prohibitions of unconscionable tactics and unfair or 

deceptive conduct in the course of a person’s business, vocation, or occupation.   

A person engages in an “unlawful practice” within the meaning of Oregon’s Unlawful 

Trade Practice Act if, in the course of the person’s business, vocation or occupation, the person 

“[e]ngages in any . . . unfair or deceptive conduct in trade or commerce.” O.R.S. § 646.608(1)(u). 

A person engages in “unconscionable tactics” within the meaning of Oregon’s 

Unlawful Trade Practices Act if that person: “Knowingly permits a customer to enter into a transaction 

from which the customer will derive no material benefit; [and/or] Permits a customer to enter into a 

transaction with knowledge that there is no reasonable probability of payment of the attendant 

financial obligation in full by the customer when due.” O.R.S. § 646.605(9)(b)-(c). 

In the course and conduct of Nationstar’s loan servicing and collection and in violation 

of Oregon’s Unlawful Trade Practices Act, Defendants used false, deceptive and misleading 

statements, and omitted material facts, concerning the propriety of certain fees and services that were 

automatically ordered and charged to Class members. Specifically, Defendants led consumers to 

believe that certain fees including but not limited to, fees for property inspections and other services 

(“Distressed Mortgage Fees”) were authorized by their Lender and appropriately priced when, in 

reality, the fees were for services that were inflated, unauthorized, duplicative, and/or never 

performed.  

In the course and conduct of Nationstar’s loan servicing and collection and in violation 

of Oregon’s Unlawful Trade Practices Act, Defendants knowingly permitted their customers to enter 

into transactions from which they would derive no material benefit. Specifically, Defendants charged 

consumers certain “Distressed Mortgage Fees,” as defined above, that were unauthorized, 
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unnecessary, provided no value or benefit to their customers and, in some cases, were duplicative 

and/or never performed.  

In the course and conduct of Nationstar’s loan servicing and collection and in violation 

of Oregon’s Unlawful Trade Practices Act, Defendants knowingly permitted their customers to enter 

into transactions with knowledge that there was no reasonable probability of payment of the attendant 

financial obligation in full by the customer when due. Specifically, Defendants charged consumers 

unauthorized and/or illegal “Distressed Mortgage Fees,” intended to prevent borrowers from 

modifying their existing mortgage to have more favorable terms or otherwise bring their loans out of 

default so as to permit them to repay their loans or the fees charged by Defendants.  

As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of Oregon’s Unlawful Trade 

Practices Act (Or. Rev. Stat. §§ 646.605, et seq.) Plaintiff Barney and each member of the Oregon 

Distressed Mortgage Fees Class have suffered damages and substantial injury to a number of legally 

protected interests, including injury to their business and/or property.  

As provided under Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 646.638, Defendants are liable to Plaintiff 

Barney and each member of the Oregon Distressed Mortgage Fees Class for the greater of $200 in 

statutory damages and/or actual damages, together with all costs of this action, plus reasonable 

attorney’s fees. 

Due to Defendants’ willful and knowing violations of Oregon’s Unlawful Trade 

Practices Act, Plaintiff Barney and each member of the Oregon Distressed Mortgage Fees Class also 

seek an award of punitive damages in an amount that the court deems appropriate, as authorized under 

Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 646.638.  

Pursuant to Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 646.638, Plaintiff Barney and each member of the 

Oregon Distressed Mortgage Fees Class also seek an order of this court declaring Defendants’ acts and 

practices to be unlawful and enjoining Defendants from continuing their unfair, unlawful, and/or 
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deceptive business acts and/or practices in the State of Oregon and elsewhere, as well as any other 

injunctive or declaratory relief as the court deems appropriate.  

COUNT V 
VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA’S UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW  

(CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 17200, ET SEQ.)  
(ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFFS CONTRERAS AND THE CALIFORNIA DISTRESSED 

MORTGAGE FEES CLASS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS, AND ON BEHALF OF THE 
CALIFORNIA PAY-TO-PAY CLASS AGAINST NATIONSTAR) 

Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the preceding allegations. 

Plaintiffs Contreras bring this cause of action on their own behalf and on behalf of the 

members of the California Distressed Mortgage Fees Class against all Defendants and on behalf of the 

California Pay-to-Pay Class against Defendant Nationstar 

Through the Inspection Scheme and the Pay to Pay Scheme, Defendants have 

(1) directly and indirectly employed a scheme, device and artifice to defraud and mislead borrowers 

and defraud any person; (2) directly and indirectly engaged in an unfair and deceptive act toward a 

person; (3) directly and indirectly obtained property by fraud and misrepresentation; and 

(4) knowingly made, published and disseminated false, deceptive and misleading information. 

California law applies to the claims of Plaintiffs Contreras and members of the 

California Classes.   

Defendants have engaged and continue to engage in the two Schemes alleged herein.  

Nationstar’s and Solutionstar’s acts and practices as described herein constitute unlawful, fraudulent 

and/or unfair business acts and practices.  As such, their conduct violates Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 

§ 17200, et seq. (“UCL”). 

Defendants’ conduct described herein constitutes an unlawful business practice within 

the meaning of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq., in that the conduct violates California law and 

the common law of unjust enrichment.  Specifically, as alleged herein, Defendants have violated 24 

Case 2:16-cv-00302-MCE-EFB   Document 114   Filed 05/06/20   Page 62 of 84



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THIRD AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT - 59

C.F.R. § 203.377 by ordering and charging for unnecessary inspections and charging fees to make 

payments.  

Defendants’ conduct as described herein violates not only the unlawful prong of the 

UCL, but also constitutes a violation of the UCL’s “unfair” prong, independent of the other causes of 

action asserted herein.  Defendants’ conduct offends public policy and is immoral, unethical, 

oppressive, unscrupulous and substantially injurious to consumers.  Any justification for Defendants’ 

practices is outweighed by the consequences and harm to Plaintiffs and the Class. 

Defendants’ conduct as described herein also violates the “deceptive” prong of the 

UCL, independent of the other causes of action asserted herein.  Defendants acted deceptively by 

charging Plaintiffs and members of the Class fees for unfair and excessive pay-to-pay fees and 

property inspections. 

Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered injury-in-fact and have lost money or property as 

a result of Defendants’ unlawful, unfair and/or deceptive business practices.  Each of Defendants’ 

omissions was material to Plaintiffs and the Class in entering into the transaction with Defendants and 

Plaintiffs and the Class relied on Defendants’ false and misleading misrepresentations in entering into 

the transactions at issue. 

The above-described unlawful, unfair and/or deceptive business practices present an 

ongoing threat of continuing injury to Plaintiffs, the Class and the general public.  Among other 

things, Plaintiffs, the Class and the general public continue to be financially disadvantaged by such 

conduct.  Such wrongful conduct is continuing and, unless Defendants are restrained, it will continue 

to engage in such conduct. 

Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiffs and the Class, individually and 

on behalf of the public, seek an order of this Court enjoining Defendants from continuing their unfair, 
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unlawful, and/or deceptive business acts or practices in the State of California and elsewhere.  The 

public, Plaintiffs and the Class will be irreparably harmed if such an order is not granted.  

Further, Plaintiffs and the Class, individually and on behalf of the public, seek 

restitution and disgorgement of profits realized by Defendants as a result of their unfair, unlawful 

and/or deceptive practices. 

COUNT VI 

[DELIBERATELY REMOVED35]  

COUNT VII 

[DELIBERATELY REMOVED] 

COUNT VIII 
[DELIBERATELY REMOVED] 

COUNT IX 
VIOLATIONS OF FLORIDA’S UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT  

(FLA. STAT. §§ 501.201, ET SEQ.)  
(ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF CHARLOT AND THE FLORIDA DISTRESSED MORTGAGE 

FEES CLASS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS AND ON BEHALF OF THE FLORIDA PAY-
TO-PAY CLASS AGAINST NATIONSTAR) 

Plaintiffs hereby incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint and restate 

them as if they were fully written herein. 

Plaintiff Sherlie Charlot brings this cause of action on her own behalf and on behalf of 

the members of the Florida Distressed Mortgage Fees Class against all Defendants, and the Florida 

Pay-to-Pay Class against Defendant Nationstar. 

Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act (Fla. Stat. §§ 501.201, et seq.) 

prohibits unfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce. 

35 Counts VI, VII, VIII are deliberately removed from the Third Amended Complaint to indicate that 
consistent with the Court’s prior Orders, Plaintiffs are not pursuing these claims in the District Court. 
Plaintiffs preserve all rights to challenge dismissal of these claims in any subsequent appeal.    
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A practice is “deceptive” within the meaning of Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade 

Practices Act if it is likely to mislead consumers.   

A practice is “unfair” within the meaning of Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade 

Practices Act if it offends public policy and/or is immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous or 

substantially injurious to consumers. 

The issuance of fees for unauthorized services in connection with loan servicing 

constitutes an unfair and deceptive practice within the meaning of Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive 

Trade Practices Act.  

In the course and conduct of Nationstar’s loan servicing and collection and in violation 

of Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act and federal law, Defendants used false, 

deceptive, confusing and misleading statements, and failed to disclose and/or omitted material facts, 

concerning the propriety of certain fees and services that were automatically ordered and charged to 

Class members as well as the fraudulent and self-dealing nature of Nationstar’s business relationship 

with Solutionstar, and Defendants.  

Specifically, Defendants led consumers to believe that certain “Distressed Mortgage 

Fees” including but not limited to, corporate advances, fees for property inspections and other 

services, were authorized by their Lender and appropriately priced when, in reality, the fees were 

inflated due to Nationstar’s self-dealing business relationship with Solutionstar and were for services 

that were unauthorized, duplicative, provided no benefit to the consumer, and/or were never 

performed.  

Nationstar also failed to make Charlot and other consumers aware: (1) that they will or 

have been charged a Pay-to-Pay fee; (2) that such a fee is improper as it is imposed purely at the 

discretion of Nationstar; and (3) consumers are not able to choose their servicer or select a servicer 

that does not issue such a fee for making payments online or by phone. 
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Nationstar’s Pay-to-Pay fee provides no value to consumers, does not compensate them 

for any service, and does not benefit competition amongst servicers. It is merely an effort to collect 

additional fees-as-profit from the most vulnerable defaulting borrowers.  

Moreover, Nationstar’s Pay-to-Pay fee is misleading and deceptive. As noted above, it 

is disclosed to customers alternatively as a “fee,” “fees,” “fee assessed,” “e pay fee assessed,” and/or a 

fee to make online and telephone payments when, in reality, it is triggered at Nationstar’s discretion.  

Defendants’ false, deceptive, confusing and misleading statements and omissions are 

likely to mislead consumers into believing that Nationstar’s “Distressed Mortgage Fees” and Pay-to-

Pay fees are appropriately priced and/or authorized by their lender when, in fact, they are not.  

Defendants’ false, deceptive, confusing and misleading statements and omissions are 

significantly injurious to the public and are against public policy. As detailed above, Defendants’ 

practices are contrary to the general public interest in home ownership as they make it less likely that 

borrowers will become current on their mortgage and more likely that they will default on those 

mortgages and face foreclosure. 

As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of Florida’s Unfair and 

Deceptive Trade Practices Act (Fla. Stat. §§ 501.201, et seq.) Plaintiff Charlot and each member of the 

Florida Distressed Mortgage Fees Class and the Florida Pay-to-Pay Class have suffered damages and 

substantial injury to a number of legally protected interests, including injury to their business and/or 

property.  

Defendants are liable to Plaintiff Charlot and each member of the Florida Distressed 

Mortgage Fees Class and Florida Pay-to-Pay Class for damages, together with all costs of this action, 

plus reasonable attorney’s fees, as provided under Fla. Stat. Ann. § 501.211, and § 501.2105. 

Further, pursuant to Fla. Stat. Ann. § 501.211, Plaintiff Charlot and each member of the 

Florida Distressed Mortgage Fees Class and Florida Pay-to-Pay Class seek an order of this court 
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declaring Defendants’ acts and practices to be unlawful and enjoining Defendants from continuing 

their unfair, unlawful, and/or deceptive business acts and/or practices in the State of Florida and 

elsewhere, as well as any other injunctive or declaratory relief as the court deems appropriate.  

COUNT X 
VIOLATIONS OF ILLINOIS’ CONSUMER FRAUD AND DECEPTIVE BUSINESS 

PRACTICES ACT  
(815 ILL. COMP. STAT. ANN. 505/2, ET SEQ.)  

(ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF JENNIE MILLER AND THE ILLINOIS PAY-TO-PAY CLASS 
AGAINST NATIONSTAR) 

Plaintiffs hereby incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint and restate 

them as if they were fully written herein. 

Plaintiff Jennie Miller brings this cause of action on her own behalf and on behalf of 

the members of the Illinois Pay-to-Pay Class against Nationstar. 

Illinois’ Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act (815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 

Ann. 505/2, et seq.) prohibits “Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices, 

including but not limited to the use or employment of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false 

promise, misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact, with 

intent that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or omission of such material fact, or the use 

or employment of any practice described in Section 2 of the “Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices Act”. 

. . in the conduct of any trade or commerce.”  

In determining whether particular conduct is unfair, the Act asks whether the practice 

(1) offends public policy; (2) is immoral, unethical, oppressive, or unscrupulous; or (3) causes 

substantial injury to consumers.  

Conduct is immoral, unethical, oppressive, or unscrupulous within the meaning of the 

Act if consumers have little alternative but to submit to it.  
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Conduct causes substantial injury within the meaning of the Act if the injury is (1) 

substantial; (2) not outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition that the 

practice produces; and (3) one that consumers themselves could not reasonably have avoided. 

Nationstar’s Pay-to-Pay Scheme constitutes an unfair or deceptive practice within the 

meaning of the Illinois’ Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act. 

Consumers are not made aware that they will or have been charged a Pay-to-Pay fee, 

they are not made aware of what actions will incur such a fee as it is imposed purely at the discretion 

of Nationstar, and consumers are not able to choose their servicer or select a servicer that does not 

issue such a fee for making payments online or by phone. As such, they cannot reasonably avoid the 

practice.  

Nationstar’s Pay-to-Pay fee provides no value to consumers, does not compensate them 

for any service, and does not benefit competition amongst servicers. It is merely an effort to collect 

additional fees-as-profit from the most vulnerable defaulting borrowers.  

Moreover, Nationstar’s Pay-to-Pay fee is misleading and deceptive. As noted above, it 

is disclosed to customers alternatively as a “fee,” “fees,” “fee assessed,” “e pay fee assessed,” and/or a 

fee to make online and telephone payments when, in reality, it is triggered at Nationstar’s discretion.  

Finally, Nationstar’s false, deceptive, confusing and misleading statements and 

omissions are significantly injurious to the public and are against public policy. As detailed above, 

Nationstar’s practices are contrary to the general public interest in home ownership as they make it 

less likely that borrowers will become current on their mortgage and more likely that they will default 

on those mortgages and face foreclosure. 

As a direct and proximate result of Nationstar’s violations of the Illinois’ Consumer 

Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act Plaintiff Miller and each member of the Illinois Pay-to-
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Pay Class have suffered damages and substantial injury to a number of legally protected interests, 

including injury to their business and/or property.  

Nationstar is liable to Plaintiff Miller and each member of the Illinois Pay-to-Pay Class 

for damages, together with all costs of this action, plus reasonable attorney’s fees, as provided under 

815 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 505/10a(c). 

Further, pursuant to 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 505/10a(c), Plaintiff Miller and each 

member of the Illinois Pay-to-Pay Class seek an order of this court declaring Nationstar’s acts and 

practices to be unlawful and enjoining Nationstar from continuing their unfair, unlawful, and/or 

deceptive business acts and/or practices in the State of Illinois and elsewhere, as well as any other 

injunctive or declaratory relief as the court deems appropriate.  

COUNT XI 
VIOLATIONS OF 18 U.S.C. § 1962(C)-(D) THE RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND 

CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT, 18 U.S.C. § 1961, ET SEQ.
(ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFFS CONTRERAS, PHILLIPS, BARNEY, MARCEL, CHARLOT, 

AND THE NATIONAL DISTRESSED MORTGAGE FEES CLASS (INCLUDING ITS TWO 
SUBCLASSES) AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each preceding paragraph as though fully set forth 

herein. 

All Plaintiffs bring this Count on their own behalf and on behalf of the National 

Distressed Mortgage Fees Class (including its Subclasses) against all Defendants. 

At all relevant times, Defendants have been “persons” under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3) 

because they are capable of holding, and do hold, “a legal or beneficial interest in property.” 

Section 1962(c) makes it “unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any 

enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or 

participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of 

racketeering activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). 
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Section 1962(d) makes it unlawful for “any person to conspire to violate” Section 

1962(c), among other provisions. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 

As explained in detail above (Section IV) and below, at all relevant times, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and (d), Defendant Nationstar, including its directors, employees, and agents, 

along with the Defendant Solutionstar entities including their directors, employees, and agents, and 

their affiliated property preservation vendors and/or inspectors, conducted the affairs of an associated-

in-fact enterprise, as that term is defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4) (consistent with the definition above 

in Section IV, the “Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise”).  

A. Description of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise 

In addition to above incorporation of allegations, Plaintiffs expressly incorporate by 

reference the allegations contained in each of the paragraphs within Section IV, above, as though fully 

set forth herein. 

RICO defines an enterprise as “any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or 

other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal entity.” 

18 U.S.C. § 1961(4).  

An association-in-fact enterprise requires three structural features: (1) a purpose; (2) 

relationships among those associated with the enterprise; and (3) longevity sufficient to permit those 

associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpose. See Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S. 938, 946 (2009). 

The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise is an ongoing, continuing group or unit 

of persons and entities associated together for the common purpose of limiting costs and maximizing 

profits of the otherwise independent members of the enterprise by conducting unfair, illegal and 

excessive property inspections whether they are needed or not, and collecting unearned and marked-up 

fees in the process, facilitated through use of the mail and wires of the United States.  
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The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise consisted of the following entities and 

individuals: (a) Nationstar Mortgage LLC, its subsidiaries, executives, employees, and agents; (b) 

Solutionstar Holdings LLC, its subsidiaries, executives, employees, and agents; (c) Solutionstar Field 

Services LLC, its subsidiaries, executives, employees, and agents; and (d) their affiliated property 

preservation vendors and/or property inspectors. The enterprise alleged in this paragraph shall be 

referred to as the “Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise.” 

At all relevant times, the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise constituted a single 

“enterprise” or multiple enterprises within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4), as legal entities, as 

well as individuals and legal entities associated-in-fact for the common purpose of engaging in the 

Defendants’ illicit profit-making scheme. 

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise and their co-

conspirators, through their illegal enterprise, engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity, which, as 

described above,  involved a fraudulent scheme to increase revenue for the members of the enterprise 

and the other entities and individuals associated-in-fact with the Nationstar Property Inspection 

Enterprise’s activities by conducting unfair and excessive property inspections whether they are 

needed or not, and collecting unearned and marked-up fees in the process (consistent with the 

definition above in Section IV, “Inspection Fee RICO Scheme”). See Weiner v. Ocwen Fin. Corp., No. 

2:14-cv-02597-MCE-DAD, 2015 WL 4599427, at *10 (E.D. Cal. July 29, 2015) (“Weiner”). 

B. The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise Sought to Fraudulently Increase 
Defendants’ Profits and Revenues. 

Each member of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise benefited financially 

from the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme. Nationstar received fees paid by defaulting borrowers for each 

property inspection it ordered as well as any additional associated fees, such as late payment fees 

issued to borrowers who were often unaware of the inspection fees that were charged to their account; 

the Solutionstar entities benefit from the scheme by charging marked-up property inspection fees, in 
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the form of ‘service’ and ‘referral’ charges, that they pocket as profit; and third party property 

inspection vendors and/or property inspectors affiliated with Defendants profit from the scheme by 

completing dubious and unnecessary drive-by or fabricated inspections, for which Solutionstar pays 

them, whether those inspections were conducted or not. 

The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise engaged in, and its activities affected, 

interstate and foreign commerce because it involved commercial activities across state boundaries, 

including but not limited to: (1) the marketing, promotion, and advertisement of Defendants’ services; 

(2) the issuance of fees, bills, and statements demanding the payment of fees to defaulting borrowers 

located across the country, and the receipt of monies for payment of the same; (3) the issuance of 

property inspection orders for properties located throughout the country; (4) the actual inspection of 

those properties; and (5) impacting the nation-wide market for mortgages through a scheme designed 

to encourage default. 

Within the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise, there was a common 

communication network by which Defendants and their co-conspirators shared information on a 

regular basis. The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise used this common communication 

network for ordering, billing for, and conducting the property inspections described herein. Indeed, 

every property inspection ordered by Nationstar is issued through an automated and computerized 

loan-servicing platform that communicates through the interstate wires directly to a similar servicing-

platform at Solutionstar, which issues a similar order to third party inspection vendors and/or property 

inspectors who use the same communication network to issue confirmations that inspections have 

been completed, whether they have or not.   

Each participant in the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise has systematic 

linkages to each other through corporate ties, contractual relationships, financial ties, and a continuing 

coordination of activities. The Solutionstar entities were spun-off from Nationstar to process and 
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execute the default-related services which are the subject of this complaint but the arrangement 

between Nationstar and Solutionstar, and their affiliated third-party property inspection vendors is also 

laid out in additional contractual arrangements between each of the members of the Nationstar 

Property Inspection Enterprise and in the ongoing unwritten agreements between the individuals in the 

enterprise to continue performing, billing for, and collecting for supposed “inspections” that each of 

them knew were repetitive, unnecessary, and designed not to protect any valid property interest of the 

lender, but instead to enrich the members of the enterprise.  

Through the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise, Defendants and their co-

conspirators functioned as a continuing unit with the purpose of furthering the Inspection Fee RICO 

Scheme. 

Each Defendant participated in the operation and management of the Nationstar 

Property Inspection Enterprise by directing its affairs as described herein. 

While Defendants participated in, and are members of, the enterprise, they have an 

existence separate from the enterprise, including distinct legal statuses, different affairs, different 

offices and roles, officers (with certain exceptions), directors (with certain exceptions), employees, 

individual personhood, and reporting requirements. Nationstar’s participation in the Nationstar 

Property Inspection Enterprise is distinct from its own affairs as a loan servicer. Solutionstar’s 

participation in the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise is also distinct from their own affairs 

which include providing technology and data enhanced solutions to home buyers, home sellers, real 

estate agents, and companies engaged in the origination and/or servicing of mortgage loans. 

Defendants and their co-conspirators exerted substantial control over the Nationstar 

Property Inspection Enterprise, and participated in the affairs of the enterprise by: (a) negotiating and 

entering into agreements which permitted and facilitated the members of the Enterprise to engage in 

property inspections and charge fees in connection with those inspections; (b) establishing and 
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operating automated servicing platforms which issue property inspection orders and/or property 

inspection confirmations; (c) issuing property inspection orders and or property inspection 

confirmations; (d) misrepresenting and/or concealing the existence, amount, legality or purpose of 

property inspections and/or related fees; (e) misrepresenting and/or concealing whether and when 

property inspections are permitted by the terms of a borrower’s mortgage agreement; (f) 

misrepresenting and/or concealing fees charged in connection with property inspections; (g) 

artificially inflating and demanding payment for inflated fees charged in connection with those 

property inspections; (h) misrepresenting and/or concealing mark-ups included in fees charged in 

connection with property inspections; (i) issuing demands for and collecting payment for property 

inspections and their associated fees; (j) issuing and accepting confirmations that property inspections 

were completed, whether they were completed or not; (k) misrepresenting and/or concealing the true 

nature of the relationship and agreements between the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection 

Enterprise; and (l) ensuring that members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise, and 

unnamed co-conspirators, complied with and concealed the fraudulent Inspection Fee RICO Scheme. 

Without the willing participation of each member of the Nationstar Property Inspection 

Enterprise, the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme and common course of conduct would not have been 

successful.  

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise directed and controlled 

the ongoing organization necessary to implement the scheme at meetings and through communications 

of which Plaintiffs cannot fully know at present, because such information lies in the Defendants’ and 

others’ hands. 

C. Predicate Acts: Mail and Wire Fraud. 

To carry out, or attempt to carry out, the scheme to defraud, the members of the 

Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise, each of whom is a person associated-in-fact with the 
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Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise, did knowingly conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, 

in the affairs of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity 

within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(1), 1961(5) and 1962(c), and employed the use of the mail 

and wire facilities, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud) and § 1343 (wire fraud).  

Specifically, the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise have 

committed, conspired to commit, and/or aided and abetted in the commission of, at least two predicate 

acts of racketeering activity (i.e., violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343), within the past ten years.  

The multiple acts of racketeering activity which the members of the Nationstar Property 

Inspection Enterprise committed, or aided or abetted in the commission of, were related to each other, 

posed a threat of continued racketeering activity, and therefore constitute a “pattern of racketeering 

activity.”  

The racketeering activity was made possible by the Nationstar Property Inspection 

Enterprise’s regular use of the facilities, services, distribution channels, and employees of the 

Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise.  

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise participated in the 

scheme to defraud by using mail, telephone, and the Internet to transmit mailings and wires in 

interstate or foreign commerce.  

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise used, directed the use of, 

and/or caused to be used, thousands of interstate mail and wire communications in service of their 

scheme through virtually uniform misrepresentations, concealments, and material omissions. 

In devising and executing the illegal scheme, the members of the Nationstar Property 

Inspection Enterprise devised and knowingly carried out a material scheme and/or artifice to defraud 

Plaintiffs and the Class or to obtain money from Plaintiffs and the Class by means of materially false 

or fraudulent pretenses, representations, promises, or omissions of material facts.  
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For the purpose of executing the illegal scheme, the members of the Nationstar 

Property Inspection Enterprise committed these racketeering acts, which number in the thousands, 

intentionally and knowingly with the specific intent to advance the illegal Inspection Fee RICO 

Scheme. 

The Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise’s predicate acts of racketeering (18 

U.S.C. § 1961(1)) include, but are not limited to: 

A. Mail Fraud: The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise 

violated 18 U.S.C. § 1341 by sending or receiving, or by causing to be sent and/or received, 

materials via U.S. mail or commercial interstate carriers for the purpose of limiting costs and 

maximizing profits by conducting unfair and excessive property inspections whether they are 

needed or not, and collecting unearned and marked-up fees in the process. 

B. Wire Fraud: The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise 

violated 18 U.S.C. § 1343 by transmitting and/or receiving, or by causing to be transmitted 

and/or received, materials by wire for the purpose of executing the unlawful scheme to defraud 

and obtain money on false pretenses, misrepresentations, promises, and omissions. 

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise use of the mails and 

wires include, but are not limited to: (a) the transmission and receipt of property inspection orders; (b) 

the transmission and receipt of property inspection confirmations; (c) the transmission of invoices, 

bills and other demands for payment related to fees issued in connection with property inspections 

and/or property inspection services; (d) the transmission of contracts, agreements, marketing or other 

materials indicating when a property inspection will be conducted and/or is permitted; and (e) the 

transmission of contracts, agreements, or other materials establishing the relationship between, 

Nationstar, Solutionstar, and third party property inspection vendors and/or property inspectors. See 

Weiner, 2015 WL 4599427, at *10 (finding alleged receipt of specific monthly mortgage statements 
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demanding payment for allegedly marked-up inspection fees sufficient to establish a RICO predicate 

act under Rule 9(b)). 

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise also communicated by 

U.S. mail, by interstate facsimile, and by interstate electronic mail with various other affiliates, 

regional offices, divisions, dealerships, government entities, and other third-party entities in 

furtherance of the scheme. 

The mail and wire transmissions described herein were made in furtherance of 

Defendants’ Inspection Fee RICO Scheme and common course of conduct designed to conduct unfair 

and excessive property inspections whether they are needed or not, and collecting unearned and 

marked-up fees in the process. 

Many of the precise dates of the fraudulent uses of the U.S. mail and interstate wire 

facilities have been deliberately hidden, and cannot be alleged without access to Defendants’ books 

and records. However, Plaintiffs have described the types of predicate acts of mail and/or wire fraud, 

including certain specific dates that, through mail and wires, Defendants provided mortgage invoices, 

loan statements, payoff demands, or proofs of claims to Plaintiffs, affirmatively demanding that they 

pay fraudulent and marked-up fees for default-related services. See supra. Defendants have also 

accepted payments and engaged in other correspondence in furtherance of their scheme through the 

mail and wire, including but not limited to accepting Plaintiffs’ payments for invoices that included 

fraudulent and improper Property Inspection and Pay-to-Pay fees described in this Complaint and 

reflected in the Exhibits thereto.  

Defendants’ use of the mails and wires to effectuate the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme 

include at least the following uses of the mails and wires on the following dates, (on information and 

belief, Nationstar’s detailed transaction history entries that bear the label “6226 CORP ADV DISB” 
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reflect Property Inspection Fees, and Plaintiff includes all such entries that reasonably appear to be 

Property Inspection Fees, below): 

Plaintiff Dates & Amount 

Contreras April 24, 2014: $15.00 

May 2, 2014: $15.00 

May 22, 2014: $15.00 

May 27, 2014: $15.00 

June 19, 2014: $15.00 

July 25, 2014: $15.00 

September 26, 2014: $15.00 

September 30, 2014: $15.00 

December 15, 2014: $15.00 

Phillips June 18, 2014: $15.00 

October 17, 2014: $15.00 

December 12, 2014: $15.00 

January 9, 2015: $15.00 

February 5, 2015: $15.00 

Barney June 19, 2012: $96.00 

July 3, 2012: $96.00 

September 25, 2012: $12.00 

October 18, 2012: $12.00 

November 20, 2012: $12.00 

January 17, 2013: $12.00 

February 21, 2014: $15.00 

April 18, 2014: $15.00 

May 14, 2014: $15.00 

June 20, 2014: $15.00 

January 28, 2015: $15.00 

February 4, 2015: $15.00 

Marcel January 3, 2014: $12.00 

February 3, 2014: $12.00 

May 22, 2014: $15.00 

June 19, 2014: $15.00 

December 16, 2014: $15.00 

December 31, 2014: $15.00 

December 22, 2014: $57.00 

February 4, 2015: $15.00 

Charlot November 27, 2013: $12.00 

January 18, 2014: $12.00 
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May 22, 2014: $15.00 

May 30, 2014: $9.00 

June 16, 2014: $45.60 

November 28, 2014: $15.00 

February 18, 2015: $30.00 

May 22, 2015: $15.00 

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise have not undertaken the 

practices described herein in isolation, but as part of a common scheme and conspiracy. In violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise conspired to 

violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), as described herein. Various other persons, firms, and corporations, 

including third-party entities and individuals not named as defendants in this Complaint, have 

participated as co-conspirators with the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise in 

these offenses and have performed acts in furtherance of the conspiracy to increase or maintain 

revenue, increase market share, and/or minimize losses for the Defendants and their unnamed co-

conspirators throughout the illegal scheme and common course of conduct. 

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise aided and abetted others 

in the violations of the above laws. 

To achieve their common goals, the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection 

Enterprise hid from Plaintiffs, the Classes, and the public: (1) the fraudulent nature of Defendants’ 

property inspection services, (2) the inflated and fraudulent nature of fees charged in connection with 

Defendants’ property inspections and/or property inspection services; and (3) the true nature of the 

relationship between Nationstar, Solutionstar, and their affiliated third party property inspectors 

vendors and/or property inspectors.  

Defendants and each member of the conspiracy, with knowledge and intent, agreed to 

the overall objectives of the conspiracy and participated in the common course of conduct. Indeed, for 
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the conspiracy to succeed, each of the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise and 

their co-conspirators had to agree to conceal their fraudulent scheme. 

The members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise knew, and intended that, 

Plaintiffs and the members of the Classes would rely on the material misrepresentations and omissions 

made by them and incur increased costs as a result. Indeed, if Plaintiffs and the Classes did not pay 

Defendants’ inflated fees associated with the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise’s fraudulent 

property inspections, the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme could not have succeeded or turned a profit.  

As described herein, the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise 

engaged in a pattern of related and continuous predicate acts for years. The predicate acts constituted a 

variety of unlawful activities, each conducted with the common purpose of obtaining significant 

monies and revenues from Plaintiffs and the Classes based on their misrepresentations and omissions, 

while conducting unfair and excessive property inspections whether they are needed or not, and 

collecting unearned and marked-up fees in the process.  

The predicate acts also had the same or similar results, participants, victims, and 

methods of commission.  

The predicate acts were related and not isolated events. 

The true purpose of Defendants’ property inspections, the true cost of those inspections, 

as well as the inflated and fraudulent nature of the fees charged in connection with those inspections 

and/or inspection services were necessarily revealed to each member of the Nationstar Property 

Inspection Enterprise. Nevertheless, the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise 

continued to disseminate misrepresentations regarding the nature of Defendants’ property inspections 

and the Inspection Fee RICO Scheme in the form of bills, monthly statements and other demands for 

payment.  
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Defendants’ fraudulent concealment was material to Plaintiffs and the members of the 

Classes. Had the members of the Nationstar Property Inspection Enterprise disclosed the true nature of 

the fees for default-related services, Plaintiffs would have been aware of the mark-up, and would have 

challenged Defendants’ unlawful fee assessments or would not have paid them. 

The pattern of racketeering activity described above is currently ongoing and open-

ended, and threatens to continue indefinitely unless this Court enjoins the racketeering activity. 

D. Plaintiffs and the Classes Were Damaged by Defendants’ RICO Violations 

By reason of, and as a result of the conduct of the Nationstar Property Inspection 

Enterprise, and in particular, its pattern of racketeering activity, Plaintiffs and the Class have been 

injured in their business and/or property in multiple ways, including but not limited to paying 

excessive and inflated fees charged in connection with the property inspections and/or property 

inspection services described herein, which can make it impossible for homeowners to become current 

on their loan and drive them further into default. 

Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and (d) have directly and proximately 

caused injuries and damages to Plaintiffs and the Classes who are entitled to bring this action for three 

times their actual damages, as well as injunctive/equitable relief, costs, and reasonable attorneys’ fees 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).  

XI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment as follows: 

A. For an order declaring that this action may be maintained as a class action pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 23, and for an order certifying this case as a class action and 

appointing Plaintiffs as representatives of the Classes; 

B. For an order awarding compensatory damages on behalf of Plaintiffs and the Classes in 

an amount to be proven at trial; 
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C. For judgment for Plaintiffs and the Classes on their claims in an amount to be proven at 

trial, for compensatory damages caused by Defendants’ unfair or deceptive practices, for treble 

damages, and for exemplary damages to each Class member for each violation;  

D. For an order enjoining Nationstar and Defendants from continuing their unfair, unlawful, 

and/or deceptive practices, and any other injunctive relief as may appear necessary and appropriate;  

E. For judgment for Plaintiffs and the Classes on their federal and state law claims, in an 

amount to be proven at trial; 

F. For restitution of all improperly collected charges and interest, and the imposition of an 

equitable constructive trust over all such amounts for the benefit of Plaintiffs and members of the 

Classes; 

G. For an accounting of all credits, disbursements and charges and other benefits associated 

with Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ real estate transactions; 

H. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided for by law or allowed in equity; 

I. For an order awarding Plaintiffs and the Classes their attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

J. Such other and further relief as may appear necessary and appropriate. 

XII. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b), Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all issues 

so triable. 

DATED this 6th day of May 2020. 

By /s/ Laura R. Gerber 
Dean Kawamoto (Bar No. 232032) 
dkawamoto@kellerrohrback.com 
Derek W. Loeser, admitted pro hac vice 
dloeser@kellerrohrback.com 
Gretchen S. Obrist, admitted pro hac vice 
gobrist@kellerrohrback.com 
Laura R. Gerber, admitted pro hac vice
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lgerber@kellerrohrback.com 
Rachel E. Morowitz, admitted pro hac vice 
rmorowitz@kellerrohrback.com 
KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P. 
1201 Third Ave, Suite 3200 
Seattle, WA 98101 
Tel.: (206) 623-1900 
Fax: (206) 623-3384 

Thomas E. Loeser (Bar No. 202724) 
toml@hbsslaw.com 
Nick Styant-Browne, admitted pro hac vice
nick@hbsslaw.com 
HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO L.L.P. 
1301 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 
Seattle, WA 98101 
Tel.: (206) 623-7292 
Fax: (206) 623-0594 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on May 6, 2020, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the 

Court using the CM/ECF system, which in turn sent notice to all counsel of record.  

/s/ Laura R. Gerber  
Laura R. Gerber  

4832-2843-7395, v. 16
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